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YEAR IN
SUMMARY
■ RECORD HERD OF 418,000 AT 30 JUNE 2003

■ FEEDLOT CAPACITY INCREASED 85% 
WITH ACQUISITION OF ARONUI FEEDLOT 
IN QUEENSLAND

■ ACQUIRED TWO PROPERTIES, GREGORY FARM
AND TALMOI, BOTH ADJOINING EXISTING 
AACO PROPERTIES

■ 1824, AACO’S FLAGSHIP BEEF BRAND,
CONTINUES TO EXPAND 

■ COMMENCED DIRECT SALES INTO ASIA OF
HIGH VALUE WAGYU BEEF

■ ACQUIRED JESTERS JAFFLE PIE COMPANY,
AUSTRALIA’S LEADING MEAT PIE RETAIL
FRANCHISE
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OUR PROVEN CATTLE PRODUCTION SYSTEM, THE BROAD 
GEOGRAPHIC SPREAD OF OUR PROPERTIES AND THE DIVERSITY
OF MARKETS FOR THE BEEF WE PRODUCE, HAVE ENABLED
THE COMPANY TO WEATHER THE DIFFICULT CLIMACTIC AND
MARKET CONDITIONS EXPERIENCED DURING THE PAST YEAR.
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Difficult times require a sharp focus on getting the
fundamentals right. They also lay the base for future
performance. In the year to 30 June 2003, AACo’s focus was
on its core business – producing high-quality cattle. While
continuing severe drought conditions afflicted much of eastern
Australia, AACo’s production system proved yet again that AACo
has its fundamentals right, which served to underscore the
strength of AACo’s business and strategy.  

Results to 30 June 2003
Net profit after tax for the year ended 30 June 2003 was 
$18.3 million, achieved on total net revenue of $116 million.
Cattle revenue was $107.2 million, a lift of 20.6% over the
previous year’s result. Revenue was achieved on beef sales of
33.5 million kilograms, compared with 34.4 million kilograms in
2002. However, earnings before interest and tax decreased by 
3.7% over the previous year to $31.6 million, with the increase 
in cattle and other revenue being offset by higher operating
costs due to drought conditions, and business development. 

Included in cattle revenue was a net market value increment
of $40.3 million, based on Accounting Standard AASB 1037
“Self-Generating and Regenerating Assets” (SGARA). This
means our herd was substantially more valuable at the end
of the year, than it was at the start of the year. 

The major influence on this year’s result was the unusually
severe drought that has gripped rural Australia over the past
18 months. These tough conditions, and the significantly higher
grain cost for our feedlots and operating costs that have
resulted, prompted many cattle producers to offload stock
during the year at lower than ideal weights. This reduced prices
in the first six months compared with the second half, where
prices recovered after wet season rains.  

The realised average gross price received for the cattle sold
during the year was $762 per head, compared with $837 per
head the previous year. Herd numbers at year end were at a
record 418,048 compared with 406,970 the previous year. 
Net market value at year end stood at $550 per head compared
with $466 in 2002, reflecting changes in the herd mix with the
introduction of high-value wagyu cattle destined for South East
Asian markets, an increase in the value of trading cattle over
the year and the increased market value of the AACo breeding
herd, as other producer’s breeding herds have been depleted as
a result of the drought. 

The book value of our properties also increased substantially
this year. The company’s freehold land, pastoral leases,
buildings and improvements were independently valued during
the year; and as a result, AACo’s property, plant and equipment
now stand at $223 million, more than doubling their value.

As well as growing our herd and property assets, we continued
this year to invest in operations and partnerships that will
enable us to generate higher shareholder returns in future. 
The AACo board has a clear set of criteria for investments and
acquisitions. We look first at the asset’s ability to generate cash
flow; second, at the level of return on capital employed; and
third, on progress towards our strategy goals. That is ultimately
how we hope investors will assess our own performance as 
a company. 

Dividend
The board has announced a final dividend of 4 cents per share,
fully franked, payable to shareholders on 28 November 2003.
This brings the total dividend for the full year to 6 cents per
share. A dividend reinvestment plan discount of 2% was
introduced with the interim dividend and also applies to the full
year dividend, giving shareholders the opportunity to re-invest
their dividends in the company at a discount to the prevailing
market price. 

Outlook
We are in a strong position to take advantage of the upturn that
is expected in cattle prices. AACo enters 2004 with a stable
breeding herd at a time when most of the industry has sold
down and with a highly flexible, proven production system,
backed by a substantial increase in the value of the company’s
underlying property portfolio.

To best position AACo for the next stage of its growth and in
keeping with ASX corporate governance guidelines, the directors
have recently appointed an independent Chairman. As such this
will be my last annual report as Chairman of AACo, although
I intend to remain on the board as a Non Executive Director. My
fellow director Nick Burton Taylor has been elected Chairman
effective from 29 August 2003. Nick has played a pivotal part in
the development of AACo’s business to date and his contribution
will continue to be of great benefit to shareholders moving
forward. I wish him all the best in his expanded role.

On behalf of my fellow directors, I would like to thank all staff
for their contribution and commitment in achieving such a
positive result in a year of testing seasonal conditions. Without
their ongoing dedication to the company, we would not be in the
strong position we are in today.

David Hills Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

David Hills, Chairman
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

> Cattle herd valued at $230 million at 30 June 2003, an increase 
of 21% from the prior year

> Properties independently valued. Increase in value of $103 million

> Record number of 418,000 cattle at year end

> Net tangible assets per share $1.54

> Earnings per share 9.6 cents

> Dividend per share 6.0 cents, fully franked
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I believe you have to test a system before you can say it
really works. This year has certainly done that. AACo has 19
properties with 418,000 cattle, covering 6.5 million hectares
or 1% of Australia. In ideal conditions, it is easy to look good
with an asset base like that. It is only when the going is really
tough, like it has been this year, that a company’s true
strengths emerge.

Peter Holmes à Court
Chief Executive Officer

In April this year, I was driving through Queensland’s Darling
Downs en route to our new feedlot at Aronui with Don Mackay
our Executive Director of Operations, when he received a call to
inform us that the company’s records, dating back to 1824, had
been chosen to be included in the UNESCO Australian Memory
of the World Register. This archive holds some of the most
important and famous documents in Australian history –
including Captain Cook’s journal and the Mabo manuscripts.
My reaction was one of great honour to be associated with
AACo’s heritage, coupled with awareness at how much has been
done by so many people over 179 years to bring us to the point
we are at today. 

Challenges and strategy

The year to 30 June 2003 was the best possible demonstration
of how AACo differs from many others in the industry. It shows
why we have the strategy we have, and highlights the value of a
production system capable of performing well in both good and
tough times. The company’s depth of resources and our balance
sheet allow us to maintain our herd numbers and to time sales
to the company’s advantage. This has positioned us well for an
improvement in seasonal conditions when this arrives. 

Since AACo’s listing in August 2001, our strategy has been
clear: to maintain and improve the core business of beef
production by expanding the herd under management and look
for opportunities to expand into valued added areas like
wholesaling, retailing and branded beef. This allows us to
leverage the company’s considerable track record in beef
production and build growth for the future. 

The real challenge in 2003 has been to deal with the impact of
the drought without undermining the value in our core cattle
business nor losing the focus on our stated strategy. We have
succeeded in doing that because we have a portfolio of
properties spread across a wide geographic area. We also have
a beef production system that uses them well. So while some
AACo properties had poor seasonal conditions, others were not

severely affected by the dry conditions. Furthermore our well
developed feedlot system with facilities at Aronui and Goonoo
provides AACo the capacity to produce high quality beef,
throughout the year.

The net result is we can manage cattle across the property
portfolio to take advantage of changing pasture conditions.
That differentiates us – fundamentally – from other operators,
giving us great strength to deal with climactic and price
variations while developing downstream businesses. 

The core cattle business has performed credibly in another
difficult year that included high levels of volatility in cattle
prices, a sharp rise in grain costs for the feedlot operations,
and a number of other unforseeable factors. These included
the outbreak of the SARS virus which impacted the demand
for restaurant-quality beef, especially in Singapore and
Hong Kong; and the Gulf War, which impacted exports to the
Middle East. 

Markets

While there are now early signs that the worst of the drought is
over, the length of the dry conditions over 2002 and 2003 forced
many poor quality cattle onto the market. This increased
domestic cattle supplies and resulted in lower prices. 
In May 2003, we took the decision to defer sales of some
10,000 cattle into the 2004 financial year to take advantage of
anticipated price rises. As a result, we sold fewer cattle than we
expected in the final quarter of 2003, and finished the year with
record herd numbers. Subsequent to year end, we have seen a
rise in prices, justifying our decision to reschedule sales into the
first half of 2004.

Demand from the US for Australian beef remains strong, but
has been unsettled by high levels of domestic US cattle
production, rapid appreciation of the Australian dollar and a
single case of BSE (“mad cow disease”) in Canada. In Japan,
demand and prices are slowly returning to pre-BSE levels.
South Korea continues to be strong, and live exports into
Indonesia recently hit record levels.

Herd

We were able this year to grow our breeding herd to 189,000 and
grow our total herd to 418,000, an increase to both of 3%, and to
continue productive development of our asset base – all under
incredibly tough conditions. None of these things would have
been achievable without the diverse geography, and well
developed production systems.

CEO’S REPORT
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Property valuation

AACo’s balance sheet strengthened this year as a result of a
substantial increase in the value of the company’s property
portfolio, supported by an independent valuation of all
properties. The property portfolio is now valued at $212 million,
resulting from an upward revaluation of $103 million. Driving
this increase are two factors: the underlying strength of the
Australian cattle industry, and the improvements we have
made to the properties themselves. Both the number of cattle
we can run on our properties and the price paid per “beast
area” have increased which in turn, increases the value of the
company’s properties.

Environment and indigenous communities

Our job is to manage the properties so we increase their
productive capacity, and ensure at the same time that ecological
standards are maintained or improved. As a company, we have
made an unambiguous commitment to sustainable growth in
Australian agriculture.

We have done that because it makes good business sense, and
also because, as one of Australia’s largest agricultural
operators, we believe we have a responsibility to lead by
example. A sustainable, long term approach to land use leads to
higher productivity and better development opportunities for our
current shareholders. We also regard positive engagement with
Aboriginal groups on native title issues as an essential and
on-going part of our business.

Value added businesses

Another key objective is to concentrate on the integration and
growth of our value added businesses. These currently include
the management services we provide for other beef producers
through Rural Management Partners, as well as the retail meat
business of Polkinghornes, meat pie franchise business Jesters’
Jaffle Pie Company, and food service business Chefs Partner.
Our target this year was to have total value added turnover
reach around 10 per cent of our total revenue, and I am pleased
to report we have reached that, despite tough conditions. While
these businesses are yet to contribute meaningfully to group
earnings, we are confident that AACo’s value added strategy is a
prudent, careful one, which is on track to deliver results.

While it is very early days for our “1824” premium beef brand,
our goal is to make it Australia’s most recognisable beef brand.
It is an ambitious goal, but we have set a realistic timeframe to
achieve it. We recognise brand building is a process that can be
compromised by trying to move too fast or by not being
completely ready to capitalise on the brand’s potential.

We continue to take careful steps towards this objective without
overly exposing the business. In the process, we are listening
hard and learning well. We are protective of the value inherent
in our existing business, and will not compromise that under
any circumstances. 

Management team 

Considerable depth has been added to our management team
since AACo went public, especially during this financial year. We
now have the capacity to look at the development of our own
assets as well as the fit of additional assets, effectively
managing AACo’s growth and development going forward. We
have a very good balance between people who have deep rural
industry expertise, and those who bring the objectivity that
comes from broad experience outside the cattle industry. For
me, it is bringing those two viewpoints together, combined with
our strong asset base, that represents the opportunity.

I hope that by delivering a sound result in a year of such
extreme challenges, we have highlighted to the market and our
shareholders AACo’s robust character and its unique ability to
adapt to changing market circumstances.

We are working hard to find opportunities among the changes
occurring in our industry, and we are working intelligently to
make sure we emerge from this period stronger than ever.

Peter Holmes à Court Chief Executive Officer

Peter Holmes à Court, Chief Executive Officer
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AACo: BREEDING 
HERD INCREASED
BY 3% AND CONTINUES TO BUILD
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INDUSTRY: The Australian breeding herd is estimated 
to decrease by 10% next year.

AACo has invested substantially in maintaining and growing its breeding herd (female cattle that produce calves and high-

value bulls), despite extremely tough seasonal conditions. The company has made the strategic decision to keep the

breeding herd rather than sell down cattle at drought impacted prices. This long term strategy will enable the company to

produce high-quality, market ready cattle and capture anticipated price rises. This will be at a time when other producers

will be holding onto stock or buying cattle in the market as prices rise, as they rebuild their depleted herds.
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AACo: ALL 1824 BEEF 
COMES THROUGH THE AACO

INTEGRATED 
CATTLE PRODUCTION AND FINISHING SYSTEM

INDUSTRY: Various producers, various processors,
variable quality for the consumer.

1824, the company’s flagship beef brand, took a major leap forward this year, after being introduced in August 2002.

1824’s rapid expansion and market penetration have amply demonstrated the market’s keen desire for high-quality

beef that is consistently supplied week in, week out. The 1824 range of steak cuts is now sold in over 60 restaurants

along the east coast of Australia and continues to expand. High value “wagyu” beef has been added to the 1824 range

in 2003. 1824’s profile has been lifted through the sponsorship as official beef supplier to the Australian Rugby Union

and the Wallabies and through association with the Farmhand Drought Relief Concert. Other brand building

opportunities have been successful with key restaurants and industry stakeholders.



AACo ANNUAL REPORT 2003  11

PRODUCTION
AACo’s 19 properties and feedlots

PROCESSING
Nolan Meats

Other meat suppliers

PORTIONING
Chefs Partner

CONSUMER
Restaurants, hotels, cafes

>
>

>
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AACo: SUPERIOR 
BREEDING STOCK 
AND HERD MANAGEMENT TECHNOLOGY

AACo has made many advances in increasing the fertility of its breeding herd. The result

of this is that the breeding herd (or the “factory”) is as productive as possible, even during

very tough seasonal conditions. By striving to increase fertility, AACo is building a

competitive advantage over other producers.

In the last year AACo maintained its calving percentage at 83% at a time when the national

herd average was estimated to have fallen to as low as 66% because of drought conditions.

AACo’s herd is comprised predominantly of Brahman and Santa Gertrudis breeds and

their crosses. The breeds have been selected with the aim of providing improved

productivity and efficiency in the tropical climates where AACo’s properties 

are located. 

AACo has one of the world’s largest composite breeding programs, designed to develop

and enhance naturally-occurring genetic characteristics, which results in better quality,

and therefore higher value, beef.

Number of calves branded per 100 breeders.
Based on a calendar year for AACo.
Industry estimate: MLA
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AACo: PRODUCTION SYSTEM

FLEXIBILITY
FOR VARYING CONDITIONS

INDUSTRY: Producers forced to sell poor condition
cattle into market when prices were falling.

AACo’s breeding herds are located in the very north of Australia, which on average receive high rainfalls

over the wet season (November to March). This ensures the breeding herd is maintained in areas that have

generally reliable rainfalls. The breeding properties are combined with growing properties located in south

west Queensland (known as the “Channel Country”) and the company’s feedlots at Goonoo and Aronui. 

By locating breeding cattle in high rainfall areas and finishing cattle at the company’s feedlots, the

company increases greatly the flexibility to manage unfavourable seasonal conditions and improves the

consistency of cattle produced in terms of volume and quality.

Actions taken during the dry seasonal conditions during 2002 and 2003 to maintain AACo’s vast herd

included the use of feed supplements to support the natural feed available on breeding properties; reduced

the number of cattle transferred to the drought-affected Channel Country properties throughout the year;

reduced cattle purchases; and introduced cattle at the feedlots at lighter entry weights. 
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BRUNETTE DOWNS

2002 Above average grazing
pastures enabled above
average herd numbers to
be fattened.

2003 As pastures recede, cattle
numbers will be reduced to
long term average.

SOUTH GALWAY

2002 Herd numbers reduced
due to poor pasture
conditions.

2003 As pastures improve,
herd numbers will be
increased.

ARONUI FEEDLOT

2002 Strong demand by other
producers to use AACo’s feedlot
to supplement their cattle.

2003 As conditions improve, more
emphasis on AACo-owned cattle
through feedlot.
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1: Remnant vegetation 
AACo has signed a commitment statement declaring it will cease
broadscale clearing of remnant vegetation.

2: Grazing land condition 
AACo constantly maintains pastures and grassland structure in good
condition, including the prevention of soil erosion. On going work is
done on all AACo stations, including monitoring stocking rates,
rangelands officer monitoring and implementation of property
management plans.

3: Riparian zones 
Many AACo properties have sensitive riverbanks, lake edges and
wetlands. AACo’s Gregory Downs station has fenced vulnerable parts
of the river frontage at the Gregory River to prevent damage to this
sensitive ecosystem from cattle and weed invasion.

4: Ground water 
AACo extracts water from underground aquifers for stock and
domestic purposes. All AACo ground water bores are capped to
ensure water is not wasted. All bores are routinely monitored and
repaired when necessary.

5: Noxious weeds 
Undesirable non-native plant species exist on most of AACo stations.
Weed control and weed management plans exist for all AACo
stations. AACo has a protocol to prevent weed seed spread via
livestock, vehicles, machinery or feedstuffs. Stations have formed
functional working partnerships with neighbouring stations in a bid
to co-ordinate weed control activities.

6: Special value areas 
A number of AACo properties have special value environmental areas
such as mound springs. At Wrotham Park and Dalgonally, these
springs have been fenced off to exclude livestock (and feral animals).

7: Waste management 
Goonoo Farm takes manure from the Goonoo feedlot and turns it into
a better product via a composting process. This ensures waste
leakage into the environment is prevented and the manure is better
used as crop fertiliser.

AACo: ENVIRONMENT
AND LAND

Commitment to 
sustainable agriculture
AACo signed an historic environmental 
commitment statement during the year, 
witnessed by the Queensland State
Government. An excerpt of that statement is
listed here:

“Our commitment recognises that maintaining
profitable, high quality beef production must be
accompanied by:

– effective management of land and water
resources and protection of biological 
diversity;

– maintaining high standards for the health and
safety of our employees;

– appropriate regard to indigenous and other
heritage values; and support for local rural
economies.

AACo will establish and adopt best practice for
sustainable management of rangelands in the
Australian environment including a
commitment to:

– ongoing participation in local environmental
initiatives, such as catchment management
groups and Landcare groups;

– working with indigenous groups to establish
access agreements and where appropriate,
Indigenous Land Use Agreements; and

– the cessation of broadscale clearing of
remnant native vegetation.”

The complete statement can be found on the
AACo website – www.aaco.com.au
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The directors of AACo commissioned an independent valuation of all of AACo’s property assets during 2003, the first such
valuation booked to the balance sheet since 1995. The independent valuation resulted in an increase to the book value of
AACo’s properties of $103 million.

This substantial uplift reflects evidence of continued and strong interest in Australian cattle properties, as a result of the
positive outlook for the industry. It also reflects AACo’s ongoing focus on managing its properties in an environmentally
sensitive way to maximise their value.

The revaluation uplift results in NTA per share of $1.54 at 30 June 2003 compared to $1.03 at 30 June 2002, and a greatly
strengthened balance sheet with leverage (net debt/net debt plus equity) at 24.8% and gearing (net debt/total equity) of 33.0%
at year end, providing AACo with substantial acquisition capacity.

AACo: LAND 
AND ENVIRONMENT
Sustainable land usage = increasing land value

AACo’s Gregory Downs station has fenced off vulnerable parts of the Gregory River
to prevent damage to this sensitive ecosystem from cattle and weed invasion.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Over 90% of the beef produced in Australia comes from
businesses with a single property, or a small number of
properties. AACo is uniquely positioned in Australia’s cattle
production industry in that it has an integrated, diversified
production system comprising over 19 properties and
6.5 million hectares. This system has been designed to mitigate
climate and market risk, while allowing the company to move
cattle and constantly adjust to changes in pasture conditions,
yet still keep production and breeding programs on track. AACo
also has commenced a portfolio of value added businesses, the
nucleus of which is AACo’s 1824 beef brand. 

AACo also faces its share of challenges, and this year was no
exception. Price volatility and variable seasonal conditions,
including one of the driest periods on record, were again
present this year. The people at AACo understand that reality,
and constantly look for new ways to turn volatility in prices,
markets and climate to the company’s advantage. 

Herd management and breeding programme

At year end the AACo trading herd stood at 229,252, up slightly
on the previous year’s figure of 224,188. The company’s
breeding herd increased by 3% in this period, finishing the year
at 188,796. This is contrary to the general trend in the
Australian cattle herd, which as a result of drought is estimated
to fall 7% next year.

The fact that AACo has been able to maintain and grow the
breeding herd through a severe drought, and at a time when
both Australian and US herds are depleted, shows the real
strength of the integrated production system. It also means
that in dry conditions younger cattle are taken off breeding
properties quicker, leaving pasture for the breeding herd, 
and move them through to the grain feeding facilities at Goonoo
and Aronui. 

AACo has two core assets: land and livestock, which together
represent 90% of AACo’s asset base. Net tangible asset backing
at year end stood at $1.54 per share. The cattle herd is valued
every quarter to reflect current net market values, as required
by Accounting Standard, AASB 1037 “Self-Generating and
Regenerating Assets” (SGARA). 

Both land and cattle increased in value in the year to 30 June
2003. The high productivity of the AACo breeding herd during
the year underscores the success of the company’s breeding
strategy. This, together with increased prices per head, means
the value of the AACo herd is significantly higher now than it
was at the start of the 2003 year. The average closing cattle net

market value per head increased by 18% to $550 at 30 June
2003, compared with $466 at 30 June 2002. 

The natural increase in the herd over the period was 119,000,
as a result of achieving a calving rate of 83% for the 
12 months to December, which equates to 83 branded calves
per 100 cows.

2003 2002

Cattle numbers

Breeding cattle 188,796 182,782

Trading cattle 229,252 224,188

TOTAL 418,048 406,970         

The company’s Gulf and Barkly breeding programs
systematically cross Angus, Charolais, Brahman and Senepol
breeds in various combinations to improve fertility, productivity
and meat quality, and at the same time retain tropical
adaptability. 

AACo trading conditions

Increased operating costs were attributable mainly to higher
drought impacted grain and feed costs for the Goonoo and
Aronui feedlots, increased costs for supplemental feeding to
maintain cattle condition throughout the year in difficult
seasonal conditions, higher maintenance costs, and general
costs associated with implementing AACo’s growth strategy.

Cattle prices received over the year were generally lower,
compared with average prices received over 2002, and cattle
sale weights were generally lower due to the drought. The
realised average gross price received for cattle sold in the year
ended 30 June 2003 was $762 per head, compared to $837 per
head in the previous year.

Management’s decision to invest in the herd reduced cash flows
during 2003. Expenses were higher as cattle were fed
supplements to maintain weights throughout the year, and
grain costs were also higher due to the dry conditions.
Management also rescheduled some sales from the fourth
quarter 2003 into early 2004 in anticipation of rising prices.

Despite these factors, the company’s ability to produce
high-quality cattle for a wide range of markets, and to time
sales to maximise revenue allows AACo to minimise the impact
of market and price volatility on performance. 
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Cattle production acquisitions

In November 2002 AACo acquired the 15,000 head capacity
Aronui feedlot in south east Queensland, effectively doubling
the company’s feedlot capacity. It allows AACo to increase sales
of grain fed cattle by approximately 85%, and also fits well with
AACo’s grain fed value added strategy. Aronui also allows us to
spread AACo’s revenue base, since part of its revenue is fee
based because it feeds other owners’ cattle on set margins. The
acquisition of Aronui positions AACo well to participate in
growing demand for feedlot services and grain finished beef
in Australia.

In August 2002, the company acquired a 51% interest in Rural
Management Partners, which currently manages 60,000 cattle,
principally for mining and indigenous land owners.

AACo continues to actively pursue property acquisitions that fit
AACo’s strategy of geographic and climactic diversity. Two
properties were bought during the period under review:
Gregory Farm, a property within AACo’s Gregory Downs station
which will produce hay for the AACo group, as well as generate
external sales; and Talmoi Farm, situated adjacent to the
Aronui feedlot. These two acquisitions, while relatively small,
increase the feed and cattle holding capabilities of AACo.

Property portfolio

AACo’s freehold land, pastoral leases and buildings and
improvements were independently valued during the year,
resulting in a significant revaluation of $103 million. The
company’s property, plant and equipment assets now stand at
$223 million, reflecting keen demand for cattle properties and
highlighting AACo’s prudent land management policies. 

Feedlots 

In the year to 30 June 2003, the cattle at AACo’s feedlots at both
Goonoo and Aronui performed well, with an average gain of
two kgs per day, per animal. AACo continues to benchmark the
performance of its feedlots against many other comparable
operations, domestically and internationally, with positive
results. AACo’s feedlot operations are designed to produce
cattle that comply with the Meat Standards of Australia grading
system. This system is the benchmark to ensure a consistent
quality of beef and underpins the 1824 beef branding strategy.
Both feedlots have won awards for effective management of the
environment. Currently, AACo’s feedlots handle approximately
32,500 head of cattle at one time. Management believes that
feedlotting is an integral part of the future of AACo and sees
the benefit in increasing capacity in this area, either through
expanding existing operations or by further acquisitions.

Value added strategy

Part of AACo’s strategy is to add value to the beef the company
produces through involvement in downstream market
segments, and ultimately, having a relationship with the end-
customer, whether that be a chef or a consumer. AACo’s 1824
brand is the cornerstone: in future, we believe people will
choose beef with a known brand and trusted origin, in the same
way they currently choose other food brands they recognise 
and trust. 

Each of AACo’s value added businesses targets a different
market segment. 1824 is currently directed at the Australian
restaurant market. In future, this brand may be expanded to
encompass export markets as well.

As part of the acquisition of the Aronui feedlot, AACo now
directly markets premium wagyu beef to Asian retailers and
leading Australian restaurants. AACo sees opportunities to
expand wagyu beef supply channels in future, and its
distribution also provides an entry point for other brands, such
as AACo’s premium 1824 product. 

1824 is now available in over 60 Brisbane, Sydney and
Melbourne restaurants and continues to expand. Work is under
way to leverage 1824’s three year sponsorship as official
sponsor of the Wallabies and the Australian Rugby Union.

The Chefs Partner business, in which AACo holds a 45% stake,
has grown rapidly and generated sales approaching $8 million
for the year. In January 2003, Chefs Partner was exclusively
appointed to supply fresh meat to Bidvest, the largest food
service distributor in Australia. Chefs Partner can now focus 
on the sourcing, cutting, preparation and packaging of meat. 
In retrospect, it could not have been a tougher time to start this
new venture, with wholesale beef prices rising sharply in
February 2003. However, management is confident that the
Bidvest strategy, with further finessing and improvement, is the
right one and will, together with other initiatives, form part of a
strategy to reduce earnings volatility over time. 

Jesters Jaffle Pie Company is a retail meat pie business where
AACo will be generating franchise revenue from store sales. 
In January 2003, the company announced the acquisition of
Perth-based Jesters with 31 franchised stores. Jesters has
recently opened its first franchised store in Melbourne as a 
first step in AACo’s expansion of Jesters along the east coast 
of Australia.

Luisa Catanzaro, Peter Holmes à Court and Don Mackay
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The target for value added revenue this year was 10% of total
revenue, a milestone that was achieved in difficult trading
environments. These operations are still in their early stages
and their effect on AACo’s full year earnings is relatively small.

The priority for these value added businesses is to focus on
integration and manageable growth, and work together with
AACo’s core cattle production operations.

Management 

This year, the company added significant depth to its
management team, making new appointments in a number of
areas. Hirings included; General Manager of Food Operations,
Commercial Manager, Integration Manager, IT Operations
Manager, Group Marketing Manager, Investor Relations
Manager, as well as the management teams that have joined
from RMP, Jesters and Aronui feedlot.

We are also in the process of improving AACo’s management
information systems to ensure we actively manage all parts of
the business. AACo’s key internal performance indicators are
production driven, to ensure management makes and creates
the greatest value out of AACo’s herd, feedlots and land. The
indicators are specific to each sector of the company. For
managers in the cattle production sector, indicators relate to
increasing calving percentages, reducing deaths and increasing
kilos gained on property, while for those in the feedlot sector,
they relate to managing grain costs, increasing feed conversion
rates and increasing weight gain. 

Environment 

AACo has an established track record of environmentally-
sensitive land use, and was one of the first cattle companies in
Australia to employ its own rangelands manager to monitor the
environmental performance of the group. AACo is currently
developing an environmental management system to manage
the impacts of AACo’s activities on the environment. Working in
partnership with local communities, environmental groups and
government, the objective is to adopt the internationally
recognised ISO 14001 standards for environmentally 
managed systems.

In June 2003 AACo formalised and made public its
long-standing commitment to sustainable agriculture in
Queensland. Peter Holmes à Court and Don Mackay signed a
formal commitment statement with the Premier of Queensland
covering two key initiatives: one addressing environmental
issues and the other indigenous issues. The commitment
statement reflected over two years of consultation with
indigenous groups, peak environmental bodies and State and
Federal government on environmental and social issues in
rural and outback Australia. 

Occupational health and safety 

AACo employees work in a very wide range of situations: in
cattle yards, on motorbikes, at desks, in trucks, predominantly
in remote Australia. In all these situations, the safety and
wellbeing of AACo’s people is paramount. AACo’s commitment
as a company to a safe working environment is delivered
through a comprehensive policy and procedures manual and
induction program, together with regular OH&S training
meetings and safety audits, and the establishment of a
site-specific safety committee at each location. AACo has
regular safety meetings on all properties and all workplace
related accidents are reported to board level, where OH&S
issues form the first agenda item of every board meeting.

People and community 

AACo is one of the largest and oldest employers in rural
Australia, with a special responsibility to contribute actively to
the communities in which it operates. AACo recognises the
mutual benefits of partnerships between indigenous and
non-indigenous communities and has a number of initiatives
in place to realise this objective. The company is a registered
training organisation in Queensland and the Northern Territory,
providing 69 trainees with accreditation qualifications in
agriculture during the year to 30 June 2003. As well as
providing agricultural training, AACo’s managers – both on
and off the land – have access to nationally recognised
management training programmes. Seven AACo employees
were awarded Diplomas of Management this year under
this scheme.
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Outlook

Looking ahead, domestic cattle supply is forecast to be tight as
drought conditions ease, enabling other producers to start
rebuilding their depleted herds, leading to strong demand for
quality cattle and higher prices.

Internationally, there are a number of uncertainties impacting
the short term market. In Japan, demand and prices are
returning to pre-BSE level; however, the impact on consumer
demand of the recent 11.5% increase in Japanese tariffs on
imported beef is not yet clear. The increase of 11.5% to the
tariff is set to expire on 31 March 2004. South Korea continues
to show strong demand, and live exports to Indonesia recently
hit record levels.

The US is still experiencing a declining national herd. Whilst a
return to herd rebuilding and subsequent reduced beef
supplies is expected, the current signals are that US beef
supplies will continue to be high at a time of strong US
domestic cattle prices, at least for the remainder of 2003.

The company is well placed to take advantage of anticipated
rises in cattle prices in the medium term due to AACo’s strong
breeding herd, the good condition of AACo’s cattle and
properties, despite the tough seasonal conditions which
continue in some areas, and improved levels of breeding
productivity.

A cow and calf from AACo’s Headingly station. AACo’s breed development includes 
a terminal cross programme where Santa Gertrudis females are crossed with
Angus sires to give an F1 Santa X Angus calf.

All of the progeny from this programme flow through AACo’s MSA domestic
pathway. A large percentage of cattle in this programme finish in AACo’s 1824
branded beef product.

Michael Tighe, Philip Marwedel  and Don Mackay.
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DIRECTORS

Directors (L-R):
Nick Burton Taylor, Chris Roberts, David Hills, Don Mackay, Tim Fischer and Peter Holmes à Court.

AACo directors at the Mitchell River which runs through Wrotham Park station. Wrotham Park is situated 300 km west of
Cairns, Queensland, and is a breeding station which runs approximately 30,000 Brahman cattle and breeds around 15,000
calves each year.
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY REPORT For the Year ended 30 June 2003

The directors of Australian Agricultural Company Limited (“the company”) present their report for the year ended 30 June 2003.

DIRECTORS
The names and details of the company’s directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows:

D G W Hills – Chairman
David is a beef producer in the Barossa Valley and was previously Managing Director of Elders Australia Limited until 31 October 2001
and a director until 31 December 2002, after joining the business as its Chief Operating Officer in 1995. David was also previously the
Managing Director of Futuris Industrial Products Sydney and also spent 25 years with Pacific Dunlop Limited with roles including
Managing Director of Dunlop NZ Limited and Chief Executive Officer – GNB Australia Limited.

David is currently Chairman of Pacific Marine Batteries Pty Ltd and Rural Solutions South Australia, a director of Bremen Woll-Kämmerei
AG and Wool Dumpers Australia Limited (until 30 June 2003), and Deputy Chairman and Trustee of Young Achievement Australia.

David is the Chairman of the full board and the remuneration committee and a member of the occupational health, safety and
environmental committee.

N Burton Taylor AM – Non Executive Director
Nick is the principal of Hillgrove Pastoral Company, a producer of beef, wool and grain. Nick is a director of GrainCorp Limited, Rural
Press Limited and Heggies Bulk Transport Limited. Nick is a former Chairman and director of a number of Australian corporates
including Sydney Airports Corporation Limited, Australian Topmaking Services Limited, Hazelton Airlines Limited, Federal Airports
Corporation and Meat Research Corporation.

Nick is a member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and is also a past president. Nick is an Associate of the
Securities Institute of Australia.

Nick is the Chairman of the audit, breed development and strategy committees, and a member of the remuneration committee.

T A Fischer – Non Executive Director
Tim was Leader of the Federal National Party from 1990 to 1999, and from 1996 to 1999 he was Minister for Trade and Deputy Prime
Minister. Now Special Envoy to the Adelaide Darwin Railway, whilst in Parliament Tim was a member of many policy committees
including Transport Safety, Transport Infrastructure, Energy and Resources, Veterans Affairs and Communications. Prior to being
elected to the Parliament, he was an Army officer and NSW State Parliamentarian.

Tim is a member of the occupational health, safety and environmental committee.

P Holmes à Court – Chief Executive Officer
Peter returned to Australia in November 2000 after residing in the United States and United Kingdom for 14 years. After working with
New York-based investment bank James D. Wolfenson Inc., Peter formed Back Row Productions which grew to become a New York,
London and Sydney-based producer of live entertainment, television and video production. Peter was previously a director of Heytesbury
Pastoral, a major Australian cattle producer, and Stoll Moss Theatres (UK) Limited, London’s largest live theatre group.

In June 2002, Peter was appointed Patron of the Royal Flying Doctor Service, Central Division and in June 2003 he was appointed to the
Board of the Queensland Performing Arts Trust.

Peter is a member of the occupational health, safety and environmental and strategy committees.

D J Mackay – Executive Director of Operations
Don was appointed Managing Director of the company in September 1999 after having previously been employed by Elders for over
25 years. On floatation of the company in August 2001, Don was appointed Executive Director of Operations. Don held many key
positions during his time at Elders, including National Manager Livestock Development and State General Manager, NSW. Don has a
comprehensive background in cattle production, marketing and management. He was the inaugural Chairman of National Saleyard
Quality Assurance Limited and a former President of the Australian Council of Livestock Agents.

Don is a member of the breed development committee.

C I Roberts – Non Executive Director
Chris is Chairman of Amcor Limited and Cockatoo Ridge Wines Ltd. He is also Chairman of the Board of Governors, Winifred West
Schools Ltd and Adviser, Control Risks Group Plc. Previously, Chris has been Chairman and Managing Director of Arnott’s
Limited, Chairman of Email Limited, director of Telstra Corporation Limited and MLC Life Limited and Managing Director of Orlando
Wyndham Wines.

Chris is the Chairman of the occupational health, safety and environmental committee and a member of the audit and
strategy committees.

Australian Agricultural Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY REPORT For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

L C Catanzaro
Luisa was appointed Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer in February 2001, after working as Group Financial Controller of
Pioneer International Limited Group, prior to its acquisition in 2000 by Hanson Plc. Prior to Pioneer, Luisa was a Senior Manager at
Arthur Andersen.

Luisa holds a Bachelor of Commerce (UNSW) and is a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia.

Directors and officers were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE SHARES AND OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY AND ITS RELATED CORPORATE ENTITIES
As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares and options of Australian Agricultural Company Limited were:

ORDINARY SHARES OPTIONS

D G W Hills 186,182 –
N Burton Taylor 610,919 –
T A Fischer 41,529 –
P Holmes à Court 15,050,000 8,008,000
D J Mackay 16,582 1,386,000
C I Roberts 143,088 –

Share Trading by Directors
In addition to statutory and other restrictions, the directors have adopted a policy to restrict their trading in securities of the company to
a period of 30 days immediately following the quarterly, half year and year end profit announcements, the Annual General Meeting and
the issue of any prospectus.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Nature of Operations and Principal Activities
The principal activity of the consolidated entity during the financial year was beef cattle production and its value adding businesses.
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the year.

Employees
The consolidated entity employed 533 full time equivalent employees as at 30 June 2003 (2002: 405 employees). Primarily, the increase
in employee numbers is attributable to new acquisitions.

Review of Operations
The operations of the consolidated entity during the financial year and the results of those operations are reviewed elsewhere in this
report. The largest contributing factor to the past financial year’s performance has been unusually dry conditions throughout rural
Australia over the past 18 months. This has invariably impacted on the consolidated entity’s financial performance in several areas.
Briefly, the consolidated entity experienced a decrease in profit for the year, resulting from lower realised average cattle prices and
weights for cattle sold, and increased operating costs, as a result of dry seasonal conditions. Earnings before interest expense and
income tax expense was $31.6 million, a decrease of 3.7% over the previous year.

The consolidated entity achieved beef sales of 33.5 million kilograms in the year compared with 34.4 million kilograms in the
previous year.

At 30 June 2003 the consolidated entity had record year end cattle inventory numbers of 418,048 compared with 406,970 at the start of
the financial year.

EARNINGS PER SHARE CENTS

Basic earnings per share 9.6
Diluted earnings per share 9.6

Earnings per share (EPS) has been calculated in accordance with statutory requirements based on a weighted average number of
shares on issue during the year of 191,231,320. As at 30 June 2003, the company had 196,236,630 shares on issue which would have
equated to an EPS of 9.3 cents.

Australian Agricultural Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY REPORT For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)

Dividends
The following dividends of the consolidated entity have been paid, declared or recommended since the end of the preceding
financial year:

Dividends Paid in the Year
CENTS PER SHARE $000

Final fully franked dividend (at 30% tax rate) for the year ended 30 June 2002 
as recommended by the directors in August 2002, paid 4 October 2002 6.08 11,250

Interim fully franked dividend (at 30% tax rate) for the year ended 30 June 2003 
as recommended by the directors in May 2003, paid 13 June 2003 2.00 3,877

The company’s dividend reinvestment plan is in place allowing shareholders to have dividends fully or partly contribute to the purchase
of new ordinary shares in the company. Since May 2003, the shares issued under the plan are issued at a 2% discount to the relevant
prevailing market value.

Dividends Proposed
Subsequent to year end, a final fully franked dividend of 4 cents per share, totalling $7,849,000, was declared by the directors relating
to the year ended 30 June 2003. This dividend has not been recognised as a liability in the financial report.

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
In the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity that occurred during
the financial year under review, not otherwise disclosed in this report or in the financial statements.

Significant Events After the Balance Date
On 2 June 2003 the company announced that it had been invited to participate in stage 2 of a tender process for the sale of Stanbroke
Pastoral Company (“Stanbroke”), being undertaken by AMP Henderson Global Investors.

At the date of this report, no agreements have been entered into by the company to purchase Stanbroke, and any suggestion that the
company will make a final bid for, or be the successful acquirer of, Stanbroke is entirely speculative. This process continues and the
company would not expect to make any further comment on its participation in this process until its conclusion.

Except for the above, there has not arisen in the interval between 30 June 2003 and the date of this report any matters or circumstance,
that, in the opinion of the directors, has significantly affected or may significantly affect:

(a) the operations of the consolidated entity;

(b) the results of those operations; and

(c) the state of affairs of the consolidated entity,

in future financial years.

Likely Developments and Expected Results
Likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity in the future and the expected results are referred to elsewhere in
this report.

This report omits information on likely developments and expected future results, the supply of which in the opinion of the directors,
would prejudice the interests of the consolidated entity.

Environmental Regulation and Performance
Australian Agricultural Company Limited is committed to the management of all its business operations in an environmentally
responsible way. In line with community attitudes and expectations, there is a strong emphasis on achieving sustainable development
and protection of the environment. While legal compliance is the minimum requirement, the company’s goal is to surpass this.

Consistent with the above, the consolidated entity has a natural resource management policy under which all stations operate.

The consolidated entity holds licences issued by the relevant environmental protection authorities of the various states and territories
in which it operates. These licences specify limits and regulate the management of discharges to the air and stormwater run off
associated with the cattle operations as well as the storage of hazardous materials. Stock watering facilities, which utilise bores,
require licensing in Queensland, and registration in the Northern Territory.

Australian Agricultural Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY REPORT For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)

Goonoo Station’s water is pumped from the Comet River for irrigation and feedlot use. The pumping of water associated with Goonoo
Station is subject to licensing for pumps, weirs and ring tanks which is determined by regulations specifying minimum water flows and
heights in the river to allow sufficient environmental flows. Gregory Farm additionally has a water harvesting licence to extract water
from the Gregory River for irrigation purposes.

During the year the consolidated entity re-affirmed its commitment to sustainable growth in Australian agriculture in a statement
signed with Queensland Government leaders. The statement recognises that maintaining profitable, high quality beef production must
be accompanied by, amongst other things, the effective management of land and water resources and protection of biodiversity.

A copy of the statement is available on www.aaco.com.au

There have been no significant known breaches of the consolidated entity’s licence conditions.

SHARE OPTIONS

Unissued Shares
As at the date of this report, there were 10,618,000 unissued ordinary shares under option. No new options were issued during the
financial year. During the financial year 1,272,000 options lapsed.

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any dividends or share issue of the company or any related
body corporate.

Shares Issued as a Result of the Exercise of Options
During the financial year, employees and directors have not exercised any options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares in Australian
Agricultural Company Limited. Since the end of the financial year, no options have been exercised.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
Under Clause 19 of the company’s constitution, each of the company’s directors, the company secretary and every other person who is
an officer is indemnified to the extent permitted by law.

During or since the financial year, the company has paid premiums in respect of a contract insuring the directors and the officers of
Australian Agricultural Company Limited against costs incurred in defending proceedings for conduct involving:

(a) a wilful breach of duty; or

(b) a contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the Corporations Act 2001, as permitted by section 199B of the Corporations Act 2001.

The terms of the insurance contract prohibits the company from disclosing the level of premiums paid.

The company’s auditor is not indemnified.

Also, each director has entered into a Deed of Indemnity and Access which provides for indemnity against liability as a director, except
to the extent of indemnity under an insurance policy or where prohibited by statute. The Deed also entitles the director to access
company documents and records, subject to confidentiality undertakings.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION
Remuneration of directors and senior executives of the company is established by the remuneration committee. Levels of remuneration
have been set having regard to market factors, a performance evaluation process and independent remuneration advice. For executive
directors and officers, emoluments generally comprise a fixed salary, which can be by way of cash, and benefits such as motor vehicles,
a variable performance based bonus and superannuation. Executives are also provided with longer term incentives through an executive
option plan which acts to align the executives’ actions with the interests of the shareholders.

Salary packages for executive directors and officers are designed so that the manner of payment will be optimal to the recipient without
adding to the overall cost to the company.

Non-executive directors’ fees are determined by the board of directors within the aggregate amount approved by shareholders, currently
standing at $400,000 per annum. Non executive directors are not entitled to performance based bonuses.

The remuneration committee links the nature and amount of officers’ emoluments to the company’s operational and financial
performance. All senior managers participate in a plan which provides cash bonus incentives where specified financial and personal
criteria are met.

Australian Agricultural Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY REPORT For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)

Details of the nature and amount of the emolument of each director of the company and each of the executive officers of the company
and the consolidated entity receiving the highest emolument for the financial year are as follows:

Remuneration of Non Executive Directors
STATUTORY

DIRECTORS’ COMMITTEE SUPERANNUATION 
FEES FEES CONTRIBUTIONS TOTAL

$ $ $ $

D G W Hills 101,250 1,313 9,231 111,794
N Burton Taylor 45,563 7,623 4,787 57,973
T A Fischer 45,563 – 4,101 49,664
C I Roberts 45,563 6,313 4,669 56,545

Remuneration of Executive Directors and Officers
TOTAL OPTIONS

EMOLUMENTS INITIAL GRANTED OUTSTANDING
FIXED PER- (EXCLUDING OPTIONS OPTIONS AT 30 JUNE
BASE FORMANCE SUPER- OTHER VALUE OF GRANTED VESTED 2003

SALARY BONUS1 ANNUATION BENEFITS2 OPTIONS) (NUMBER)3 (NUMBER) (NUMBER)
$ $ $ $ $

Executive Directors
P Holmes à Court 329,287 97,500 37,209 84,150 548,146 9,240,000 1,848,000 6,160,000
D Mackay 236,865 65,000 42,635 28,500 373,000 1,386,000 462,000 924,000

Executive Officers
L Catanzaro 393,750 65,000 47,250 – 506,000 924,000 308,000 616,000
P Marwedel 180,000 – 16,200 – 196,200 – – –
G Wagstaff 115,254 22,175 20,746 20,000 178,175 20,000 6,667 13,333

1 The performance bonus amounts represent payments made in October 2002 relating to performance for the financial year ended 30 June 2002.
2 Includes the cost to the company of motor vehicle and other benefits, and fringe benefits tax where applicable.
3 The value, using a binomial pricing model, is $0.23 per option. Of the 9,240,000 options granted to Peter Holmes à Court 2,464,000 are presently subject to performance

criteria while 5,544,000 are not subject to any performance criteria. On 2 October 2002, 1,232,000 options that were subject to performance criteria lapsed due to
those criteria not being met, reducing the options subject to performance criteria from an initial amount of 3,696,000 options to 2,464,000 options. This left a total of
8,008,000 options unexercised. All other options granted to executives are not subject to performance criteria. All executive options were granted under the company’s
Executive Option Plan at an exercise price of $1.00. Each option is convertible to one ordinary Australian Agricultural Company Limited share. The options issued to
Peter Holmes à Court were granted on 2 July 2001 while those issued to other executives were granted on 6 August 2001, prior to the float of the company on the ASX.
Except for some of the options granted to Peter Holmes à Court, which are subject to performance criteria, all options will vest one-third on each anniversary date of the
grant, so that those options will be fully vested on the third anniversary of the date of grant. Once vested, the options may be exercised at any time up until the tenth
anniversary of the date of grant.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
In addition to its regular meetings, and to increase its effectiveness, the board acts through the audit committee, the remuneration
committee, the occupational health, safety and environmental committee, the breed development committee and the strategy
committee. Each of these committees has a charter approved by the board.

The number of meetings of the board and of board committees during the year were:
BOARD OR COMMITTEE NUMBER OF MEETINGS

Full board 17
Audit committee 4
Remuneration committee 2
Occupational health, safety and environmental committee 2
Breed development committee 3
Strategy committee* 9

* The strategy committee was formed during the financial year to address the company’s strategic development and to oversee the company’s growth opportunities.

The attendances of directors at meetings of the board and its committees during the year ended 30 June 2003 were:
OCCUPATIONAL

HEALTH,
SAFETY AND BREED

FULL BOARD AUDIT REMUNERATION ENVIRONMENTAL DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

D G W Hills 17 (17) – 2 (2) 2 (2) – –
N Burton Taylor 17 (17) 4 (4) 2 (2) – 3 (3) 9 (9)
T A Fischer 17 (17) – – 2 (2) – –
P Holmes à Court 17 (17) – – 2 (2) – 9 (9)
D J Mackay 17 (17) – – – 3 (3) –
C I Roberts 17 (17) 4 (4) – 2 (2) – 9 (9)

The number of meetings for which the director was eligible to attend is shown in brackets.

Australian Agricultural Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ STATUTORY REPORT For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The parent entity is a company of the kind specified in Australian Securities and Investments Commission Class Order 98/0100.
In accordance with that class order, amounts in the consolidated financial statements and the Directors’ Statutory Report have been
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless specifically stated to be otherwise.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the directors of Australian Agricultural
Company Limited support and have adhered to the principles of best practice corporate governance. During the year, the company has
complied with its corporate governance statement which establishes guidelines for the nomination and selection of directors and for
the operation of the board.

See ASX Corporate Governance Guidelines set out in the Corporate Governance section of this report for further information.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Peter Holmes à Court, Director David Hills, Chairman
Sydney Sydney
12 August 2003 12 August 2003

Australian Agricultural Company Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The board of Australian Agricultural Company Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the consolidated entity. The board
guides and monitors the business and affairs of Australian Agricultural Company Limited on behalf of the shareholders by whom they
are elected and to whom they are accountable.

To ensure the board is well equipped to discharge its responsibilities, it has established guidelines for the nomination and selection of
directors and for the operation of the board.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
The composition of the board is determined in accordance with the following principles and guidelines:

• the board should comprise at least six directors and should maintain a majority of non-executive directors;

• the chairperson must be a non-executive director;

• the board should comprise directors with an appropriate range of qualifications and expertise; and

• the board shall meet regularly and follow meeting guidelines set down to ensure all directors are made aware of, and have
available, all necessary information to participate in an informed discussion of all agenda items.

The directors in office at the date of this statement are:
NAME POSITION

D G W Hills Chairman, Non Executive
P Holmes à Court Chief Executive Officer
N Burton Taylor Non Executive
T A Fischer Non Executive
C I Roberts Non Executive
D J Mackay Executive Director of Operations

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The board has established an audit committee, which operates under a charter approved by the board. It is the board’s responsibility to
ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the consolidated entity. This includes internal controls to deal with
both effectiveness and efficiency of significant business processes. This includes the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper
accounting records, and the reliability of financial information as well as non-financial considerations such as the benchmarking of
operational key performance indicators. The board has delegated the responsibility for the establishment and maintenance of a
framework of internal control and ethical standards for the management of the consolidated entity to the audit committee.

Additionally, the audit committee:

• provides the board with additional assurance regarding the reliability of financial information for inclusion in the financial reports.
The committee comprises two non-executive directors and, by invitation, one executive director; and

• is responsible for the nomination of the external auditor and reviewing the adequacy of the scope and quality of the annual statutory
audit and half year review.

The members of the audit committee during the year were Nick Burton Taylor (Chairman), Chris Roberts and, by invitation, Peter
Holmes à Court. Both Don Mackay and Luisa Catanzaro (Chief Financial Officer) attended meetings during the year by invitation.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors themselves, the chief executive
officer and the executive team. The board has established a remuneration committee, comprising two non-executive directors.
Members of the remuneration committee throughout the year were David Hills (Chairman) and Nick Burton Taylor.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITTEE
The board has established an occupational health, safety and environmental committee, which operates under a charter approved by
the board. The committee comprises Chris Roberts (Chairman), David Hills, Tim Fischer, Peter Holmes à Court and, by invitation, Don
Mackay. The committee reviews and reports to the board on the management of the company’s safety, health and environmental
responsibilities.

BREED DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
The board has established a breed development committee comprising Nick Burton Taylor (Chairman) and Don Mackay. Other
executives attend by invitation as required. The committee is tasked with overseeing the direction of the development of the company’s
breeding program and subsequent composite cattle breeds.

Australian Agricultural Company Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

STRATEGY COMMITTEE
During the year the board established a strategy committee comprising Nick Burton Taylor (Chairman), Chris Roberts and Peter
Holmes à Court. In addition, other directors and key executives attend by invitation.

The strategy committee is responsible for directing and monitoring the strategic development of the consolidated entity and overseeing
the review of growth opportunities.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES
As the board acts on behalf of and is accountable to the shareholders, the board seeks to identify the expectations of the shareholders,
as well as other regulatory and ethical expectations and obligations. In addition, the board is responsible for identifying areas of
significant business risk and ensuring arrangements are in place to adequately manage those risks. The board seeks to discharge
these responsibilities in a number of ways.

The responsibility for the operation and administration of the consolidated entity is delegated by the board to the chief executive officer
and the executive team. The board ensures that this team is appropriately qualified and experienced to discharge their responsibilities
and has in place procedures to assess the performance of the chief executive officer and the executive team.

The board is responsible for ensuring that management’s objectives and activities are aligned with the expectations and risks identified
by the board. The board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure this is achieved. In addition to the establishment of the
committees referred to above, these mechanisms include the following:

• board approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses the consolidated entity’s vision, mission and strategy statements and is
designed to meet stakeholders’ needs and manage business risk;

• the strategic plan is a dynamic document and the board is actively involved in developing and approving initiatives and strategies
designed to ensure the continued growth and success of the consolidated entity;

• implementation of operating plans and budgets by management and board monitoring of progress against budget. This includes
the establishment and monitoring of key performance indicators (both financial and non financial) for all significant business
processes; and

• procedures to allow directors, in the furtherance of their duties, to seek independent professional advice at the company’s expense.

MONITORING OF THE BOARD’S PERFORMANCE AND COMMUNICATION TO SHAREHOLDERS
In order to ensure that the board continues to discharge its responsibilities in an appropriate manner, the performance of all directors
is reviewed annually by the chairman.

Information is communicated to the shareholders through:

• the annual or concise annual report, which is distributed to all shareholders;

• the half year report which is distributed to all shareholders; and

• the annual general meeting and other meetings so called to obtain approval for board action as appropriate.

The company also undertakes voluntary quarterly reporting to the marketplace with the aim of ensuring an appropriately informed
market.

Announcements during the year and other material information are posted on the company’s website – www.aaco.com.au

ASX CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES
On 31 March 2003, the ASX released guidelines relating to best practice corporate governance to come into effect by 30 June 2004.
The company has already put in place certain recommendations, and will be addressing the balance of those recommendations in
the first half of the financial year ending 30 June 2004. A full report on compliance with the guidelines will be available in the 2004
annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The consolidated entity takes a proactive approach to risk management. The board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also
opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that the group’s objectives and activities are aligned with the risks and opportunities
identified by the board.

The consolidated entity believes that it is crucial for all board members to be a part of this process, and as such the board has not
established a separate risk management committee. Instead, subcommittees are convened as appropriate in response to issues and
risks identified by the board as a whole, and the relevant subcommittee further examines the issue and reports back to the board.

Australian Agricultural Company Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

The board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management’s objectives and activities are aligned with the risks
identified by the board. These include the following:

• policies and procedures for the management of financial risk and treasury operations including exposures to foreign currencies,
financial instruments and movements in interest rates;

• guidelines and limits for the approval of capital expenditure and investments;

• a comprehensive insurance programme;

• board approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses the group’s vision, mission and strategy statements and is designed to meet
stakeholders’ needs and manage business risk; and

• implementation of board-approved operating plans and budgets and board monitoring of progress against these budgets, including
the establishment and monitoring of key performance indicators (both financial and non-financial).

Management is required to provide regular reports to the board on all these matters.

EXTERNAL DISCLOSURE POLICY
Australian Agricultural Company Limited has adopted an external disclosure policy which is available on the company’s website. At all
times when interacting with external individuals, investors, stockbroking analysts and market participants, the company adheres to the
principles set out in the policy.

Australian Agricultural Company Limited
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE For the Year ended 30 June 2003
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2003 2002 2003 2002
NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenues from ordinary activities 2 115,983 93,961 30,160 13,446
Share of net (loss)/profit of associate accounted for 
using the equity method (345) 15 – –
Employee expenses (21,181) (15,798) (1,316) (3,661)
Cattle expenses (8,879) (6,183) – –
Feedlot cattle expenses (20,663) (13,620) – –
Other station operating costs (11,208) (10,693) – –
Lease and property-related costs (5,141) (5,542) (454) (418)
Business development and other non-station operating costs (2,783) (588) (1,692) –
Cost of goods sold of value add businesses (2,033) (317) – –
Administration and other costs (6,954) (4,404) (3,804) (2,391)
Earnings before interest expense, income tax, depreciation 
and amortisation 36,796 36,831 22,894 6,976
Depreciation and amortisation 3(a) (5,246) (4,080) (739) (256)
Earnings before interest expense and income tax expense 31,550 32,751 22,155 6,720
Borrowing costs 3(b) (4,868) (3,923) (4,868) (3,919)
Profit from ordinary activities before income tax 26,682 28,828 17,287 2,801
Income tax (expense)/benefit attributable to ordinary 
activities 4 (9,314) (8,503) 69 (915)
Profit from ordinary activities after related income 
tax expense 17,368 20,325 17,356 1,886
Net loss attributable to outside equity interests 20(c) 908 276 – –
Net profit attributable to members of the parent entity 22 18,276 20,601 17,356 1,886

Net increase in asset revaluation reserve 21 102,869 – 18,898 –
Decrease in retained profits on adoption of revised 
Accounting Standard – AASB 1028 “Employee Benefits” 22 (97) – – –
Total revenues, expenses and valuation adjustments 
attributable to members of the parent entity and 
recognised directly in equity 102,772 – 18,898 –

Total changes in equity other than those resulting from 
transactions with owners as owners 121,048 20,601 36,254 1,886

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 34 9.6 12.1
Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 34 9.6 12.1
Franked dividend per share (cents per share) 5 6.00 6.08

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Financial Performance.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION As at 30 June 2003
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2003 2002 2003 2002
NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

Current assets
Cash assets 3,418 18,038 3,489 18,036
Receivables 6 7,460 3,632 34,382 207
Inventories 7 14,960 8,772 5,719 –
Livestock 8 88,299 68,315 – –
Current tax assets 3,444 – 579 –
Other 657 166 579 56
Total current assets 118,238 98,923 44,748 18,299
Non-current assets
Receivables 9 250 – 120,707 115,786
Livestock 11 141,787 121,504 – –
Property, plant and equipment 12 223,245 106,298 45,497 17,510
Investments accounted for using equity method 29 410 755 – –
Other financial assets 13 3 39 66,637 64,159
Deferred tax assets 1,163 1,252 86 299
Intangible assets 14 5,273 559 2,689 –
Other assets 10 1,116 1,356 – –
Total non-current assets 373,247 231,763 235,616 197,754
Total Assets 491,485 330,686 280,364 216,053

Current liabilities
Payables 15 25,096 15,334 9,159 3,503
Provisions 16 2,217 1,553 209 343
Interest bearing liabilities 17 30,000 – 30,000 –
Current tax liabilities – 4,584 – 1,281
Total current liabilities 57,313 21,471 39,368 5,127
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 51,836 41,173 – –
Provisions 18 242 157 – 53
Interest bearing liabilities 19 75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000
Total non-current liabilities 127,078 116,330 75,000 75,053
Total Liabilities 184,391 137,801 114,368 80,180

Net Assets 307,094 192,885 165,996 135,873

Equity
Contributed equity 20 55,631 46,635 55,631 46,635
Reserves 21 161,399 58,530 120,098 101,200
Retained profits (accumulated losses) 22 90,359 87,307 (9,733) (11,962)
Total parent entity interest in equity 307,389 192,472 165,996 135,873
Total outside equity interests 20(c) (295) 413 – –
Total Equity 307,094 192,885 165,996 135,873

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Financial Position.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS For the Year ended 30 June 2003
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2003 2002 2003 2002
NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 86,859 112,186 10,400 6,359
Payments to suppliers, employees and others (80,398) (84,163) (7,297) (2,780)
Payment of interest and borrowing costs on loans (4,830) (2,399) (4,830) (2,393)
Dividends received – 53 – 53
Income tax paid (6,590) (2,563) (1,579) –
Interest received 285 426 8,009 6,910
Net GST paid to ATO (1,603) (2,544) (1,605) (2,544)
Net operating cash flows (6,277) 20,996 3,098 5,605

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment and other assets (29,357) (10,716) (17,582) –
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 389 744 – 16
Proceeds on sale and leaseback 566 – – –
Purchase of controlled entities 23(c) (1,862) – (1,862) (662)
Purchase of investment in associated entity – (740) – (740)
Proceeds from the sale of equity investments – 319 – 319
Advance to controlled entities – – (20,122) (180)
Loans to other entity (250) (100) (250) –
Loans repaid by other entities – 100 – –
Net investing cash flows (30,514) (10,393) (39,816) (1,247)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from borrowings 30,000 75,000 30,000 75,000
Proceeds from issue of shares – 10,000 – 10,000
Repayment of borrowings to Futuris Group – (76,160) – (76,160)
Repayments from controlled entities – – – 6,243
Share and option issue costs paid (300) (1,405) (300) (1,405)
Payment of dividends (7,529) – (7,529) –
Net financing cash flows 22,171 7,435 22,171 13,678

Net (decrease)/increase in cash held (14,620) 18,038 (14,547) 18,036
Cash at the beginning of the financial year 18,038 – 18,036 –
Cash at the end of the financial year 23(a) 3,418 18,038 3,489 18,036

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Statement of Cash Flows.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the Year ended 30 June 2003

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Accounting
The financial report has been prepared as a general purpose financial report which complies with the requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views.

The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention and do not take account of changes
in either the general purchasing power of the dollar or in the prices of specific assets, except for livestock, which is stated at net
market value and freehold land, pastoral leases, buildings and improvements, which are stated at fair value.

(b) Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of previous years except for the accounting policies with respect to the
provision for property, plant and equipment and employee benefits.

(i) Property, Plant and Equipment

The accounting policy regarding property, plant and equipment has been changed in accordance with Accounting Standard
AASB 1041 “Revaluation of Non-Current Assets”. Previously, freehold land, pastoral leases, buildings and improvements were
carried at cost. Commencing this financial year, these assets are measured at fair value as determined by a directors’ valuation
based on an independent valuation performed by Herron Todd White. The effect of the changed policy has been to increase net
assets and reserves by $102,869,000. Plant and equipment are carried at cost.

(ii) Employee Benefits

The consolidated entity has adopted the revised Accounting Standard AASB 1028 “Employee Benefits”, which has resulted in a
change in the accounting policy for the measurement of employee benefit liabilities. Previously the consolidated entity measured the
provision for employee benefits based on remuneration rates at the date of recognition of the liability. In accordance with the
requirements of the revised standard, the provision for employee benefits is now based on the remuneration rates expected to be
paid when the liability is settled. The effect of the revised policy has been to decrease consolidated retained profits and increase
employee benefit liabilities at the beginning of the year by $97,000. In addition, current year profit has decreased by $20,000 as
a result of the change in accounting policy.

(c) Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the parent entity, Australian Agricultural Company Limited,
and its controlled entities, referred to collectively throughout these financial statements as the “consolidated entity”.

All inter-entity balances and transactions have been eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where an entity
either began or ceased to be controlled, the results are included only from the date control commenced or up to the date control
ceased.

(d) Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred except where they relate to the financing of projects under construction where they are
capitalised up to the date of commissioning or sale.

(e) Income Tax
The financial statements apply the principles of tax-effect accounting. The income tax expense in the Statement of Financial
Performance represents the tax on the pre-tax accounting profit adjusted for income and expenses never to be assessed or allowed for
taxation purposes.

The provision for deferred tax liability and the future income tax benefit include the tax effect of differences between income and
expense items recognised in different accounting periods for book and tax purposes, calculated at the tax rates expected to apply when
the differences reverse.

No liability has been provided in the financial statements in respect of future capital gains tax that may arise on the disposal of assets,
as no decision has been made to sell any of these assets. Such liability is provided at the time of disposal of assets.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)

(f) Revenue Recognition
(i) Livestock

Revenue on cattle is recognised in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 1037 “Self-Generating and Regenerating Assets”
(SGARA) which requires livestock to be measured at their net market value at each reporting date. The net market value is
determined through price movements, natural increase and the weight of the herd.

Net increments or decrements in the market value of livestock are recognised as SGARA revenue or expense in the Statement of
Financial Performance, determined as:

(a) the difference between the total net market value of livestock recognised at the beginning of the financial year and the total net
market value of livestock recognised as at the reporting date; less

(b) costs expected to be incurred in realising the market value (including freight and selling costs).

Effectively the value of the consolidated entity’s entire herd is formally marked to market each quarter.

Determination of net market value of livestock:

At 30 June 2003 the consolidated entity had approximately 188,796 breeding cattle (2002: 182,782) and 229,252 non-breeding cattle
(2002: 224,188).

The breeding cattle comprise principally females and breeding bulls, up to 10 years of age. The non-breeding cattle comprise
trading cattle including feedlot cattle (at Goonoo and Aronui feedlots). Trading cattle represent steers and heifers sold by the
consolidated entity which are generally less than three years old and most are under two years.

The consolidated entity’s herd profile is as follows:
NUMBER OF CATTLE

30 JUNE 2003 30 JUNE 2002

Breeding
Commercial and bull breeding herd 188,796 182,782
Non-breeding
Trading cattle 229,252 224,188
Total 418,048 406,970

Market values for each herd type are determined after assessing a number of key market indicators to ensure the values
determined are representative of the consolidated entity’s herd.

Broadly, net market values are determined as follows for the most significant types of cattle:

• commercial breeding herd – prices for these cattle generally reflect a longer-term view of the cattle market and as such are less
volatile than movements in the spot cattle prices evident with trading cattle. The value of these cattle is determined by reference
to prices received for large representative sales of like breeding cattle to the group’s herd;

• trading cattle – prices for these cattle generally reflect the shorter-term spot prices available in the marketplace. Relevant
market indicators used only as general reference include Roma store cattle prices, Queensland Cattle Market Index, and actual
spot cattle prices received/quoted for company cattle in and around balance date; and

• bull breeding herd – these are independently valued at year-end.

(ii) Cropping Operations

Revenue on cropping operations is accounted for in accordance with AASB 1037, which requires the market value of the harvest be
brought to account as SGARA revenue. The value of crops in the ground at balance date is not brought to account, as the directors
consider the value is uncertain and the amount likely to be immaterial.

(iii) Sale of Goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when control of the goods has passed to the buyer and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably.

(iv) Rendering of Services

Revenue is recognised on the rendering of services when the outcome of a contract to provide services can be measured reliably
and the service is performed.

(g) Investments
Interests in non-subsidiary, non-associated corporations are included in investments at the lower of cost or recoverable amount.
Dividend income is brought to account when declared.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)

(h) Inventories
Bulk stores of feed and grain held for use in the consolidated entity’s operations have been valued at the lower of cost or net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the average cost basis and comprises the cost of purchase including transport cost.

(i) Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, buildings and improvements are measured on a fair value basis as determined by a directors’ valuation. At each reporting
date, the value of each asset in these classes is reviewed to ensure that it does not materially differ from the asset’s fair value at that
date. Where necessary, the asset is revalued to reflect its fair value. Plant and equipment are carried at cost.

Property, plant and equipment, excluding freehold land and pastoral leases, are depreciated over their useful economic lives as follows:
FIXED ASSET TYPE AVERAGE USEFUL LIFE METHOD

Buildings 40 years Straight line
Fixed improvements 30 years Straight line
Leasehold improvements Term of the lease Straight line
Owned plant and equipment 3-10 years Straight line
Plant and equipment under lease Term of the lease Straight line
Motorised equipment 5 years Straight line

Where assets have been revalued, the potential effect of the capital gains tax on disposal has not been taken into account in the
determination of the revalued carrying amount.

(j) Leased Assets
Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised and amortised over the life of the relevant lease or, where ownership is likely to be
obtained on expiration of the lease, over the expected useful life of the asset. Lease payments are allocated between interest expense
and reduction in the lease liability.

Operating lease assets are not capitalised and rental payments are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Gains or losses on the sale and leaseback of assets are deferred and amortised over the lease term when the leaseback is a finance
lease. When the leaseback is an operating lease, gains or losses representing the difference between the fair value and the carrying
amount of the asset at the time of the sale are included in revenue. Gains or losses representing the difference between the selling
price and fair value of the asset are deferred and amortised over the term of the lease.

(k) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except where the amount of GST
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as a part of the item of expense. Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet. Cash flows
are included in the statement of cash flows on a net basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

(l) Other Non-Current Assets
Initial Breed Development Costs
Initial costs incurred with respect to developing an Australian Agricultural Company Limited specific breed composite were capitalised
as incurred. These initial establishment costs are being written off on a straight-line basis over a period not exceeding 12 years, the
period over which future benefits are expected to be enjoyed. Since these initial establishments costs, further costs have been treated
as described in note 1(w).

Intellectual Property
Intellectual property assets acquired during the period are stated at cost. These costs are amortised currently on a straight-line basis
over a period not exceeding five years, the period over which future benefits are expected to be enjoyed. Unamortised costs are reviewed
at each balance date to determine the amount (if any) that is no longer recoverable and any amount identified is written-off.

(m) Payables
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the consolidated
entity. The amounts are unsecured and usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Payables to related parties are carried at the principal amount. Interest, when charged by the lender, is recognised as an expense on
an accrual basis.

(n) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the economic entity has a legal, equitable or constructive obligation to make a future sacrifice of
economic benefits to other entities as a result of past transactions or other past events, it is probable that a future sacrifice of
economic benefits will be required and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)

Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting date. These
benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave.

Provision for annual leave and the current portion of long service leave together with the associated employment on-costs are
measured at their nominal amounts. The non-current portions of long service leave and its associated employment on-costs are
measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. No provision is made for non-vesting sick leave as the anticipated
pattern of future sick leave taken indicates that accumulated non-vesting leave will never be paid.

In determining the present value of future cash flows, the market yield as at the reporting date on national government bonds, which
have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability, are used.

(o) Accumulation Superannuation Plan
Contributions to accumulation superannuation plans are expensed in the year they are paid or become payable.

(p) Employee Share and Option Schemes
Certain employees are entitled to participate in share and option ownership schemes. No remuneration expense is recognised in
respect of employee shares and options issued.

(q) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative amounts have been reclassified for consistency with current year disclosures. The reclassification of
comparative amounts has not resulted in a change to the aggregate amounts of current assets, non-current assets, current liabilities,
non-current liabilities or equity, or the net profit of the company or consolidated entity as reported in the prior year financial report.

As a result of the first time application of the revised AASB 1028 “Employee Benefits”, comparatives for employee provisions, as set out
in notes 16 and 18 and have been reclassified and positioned to be consistent with current year disclosures.

(r) Financial Instruments – Equity
Ordinary share capital bears no special terms or conditions affecting income or capital entitlements of the shareholders. Ordinary share
capital is recorded at the fair value of consideration received.

(s) Financial Instruments – Assets and Liabilities
Trade debtors are initially recorded at the estimated amount of contracted sale proceeds. Bank deposits are carried at cost. Interest
revenue is recognised on an effective yield basis.

Loans are recognised when issued at the amount of the net proceeds received, with the premium or discount on issue amortised over
the period to maturity. Interest is recognised as an expense on an effective yield basis.

(t) Recoverable Amounts of Non-Current Assets
All non-current assets including investments are reviewed at least annually to determine whether their carrying amounts require write
down to recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is determined by reference to expected net cash flows that have been discounted to
their present value or to the market value of comparable assets.

(u) Goodwill on Acquisition
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a controlled entity is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period not exceeding 20 years.
The carrying value of goodwill is reassessed at each balance date.

(v) Foreign Currency Transactions
Foreign currency items are translated to Australian currency on the following bases:

• transactions are converted at exchange rates approximating those in effect at the date of each transaction; and

• amounts payable and receivable are translated at the average of the buy and sell rates available on the close of business at
balance date.

Exchange differences relating to monetary items are included in the Statement of Financial Performance, as exchange gains or losses,
in the period when the exchange rate changes, except where the exchange difference relates to a transaction intended to hedge the
purchases or sale of goods or services, in which case the exchange difference is included in the measurement of the purchase or sale.

(w) Research and System Development Costs
Research and system development costs connected with the consolidated entity’s breed development program and the Polkinghornes
venture have been expensed as incurred.

(x) Dividends
Dividends are provided for when declared, determined or publicly recommended.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2003 2002 2003 2002
NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

2. REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
Profit from ordinary activities after crediting the 
following revenues:
(a) Revenue
SGARA cattle revenue 107,187 88,861 – –
SGARA crop revenue 2,149 3,596 – –
Custom feeding revenue 2,547 – 2,547 –
Revenue from sale of goods of value add businesses 3,155 515 – –
Revenue from rendering of services 356 – – –

115,394 92,972 2,547 –

Included in SGARA cattle revenue is a net increment 
in market value of livestock of $40,267,000 
during the year (2002: $17,852,000).
(b) Other Revenues
Dividends:
– Wholly owned group – – 11,750 –
– Unrelated parties – 53 – 53
Interest income:
– Wholly owned group – – 7,724 6,484
– Unrelated parties 285 426 285 426
Gain/(loss) from sale of property, plant and equipment 3(e) 141 262 (2) 16
Gain from sale of other non-current assets – 80 – –
Management fees received from wholly owned group – – 6,600 5,499
Rental fees received from wholly owned group – – 886 –
Other revenue 163 168 370 968
Total other revenue 589 989 27,613 13,446
Total revenues for ordinary activities 115,983 93,961 30,160 13,446
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2003 2002 2003 2002
NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

3. OTHER EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit from ordinary activities after charging the 
following expenses:
(a) Depreciation and Amortisation
Depreciation of:
– Leasehold improvements 1,990 1,651 429 239
– Plant and equipment 2,747 2,351 67 17

4,737 4,002 496 256
Amortisation of:
– Intellectual property 85 33 81 –
– Goodwill 199 45 26 –
– Other intangibles 225 – 136 –
Total depreciation and amortisation 5,246 4,080 739 256
(b) Borrowing Costs
Interest paid or payable to:
Other unrelated persons 4,516 3,595 4,516 3,591
Total interest costs 4,516 3,595 4,516 3,591
Other financing charges 352 328 352 328
Total borrowing costs 4,868 3,923 4,868 3,919
(c) Other Expense Items
Provision for employee entitlements:
– Annual leave 388 80 39 50
– Long service leave 361 55 (226) 87
Total provision for employee entitlements 749 135 (187) 137
Operating lease rentals 5,666 4,876 452 418
Research and system development costs on breed 
development and Polkinghornes 2,677 1,711 7 171
(d) Write Off Other Non-Current Assets
Write down of plant and equipment to recoverable amount 12 900 – – –
Write down of goodwill to recoverable amount 14 216 – – –
Decrement in value of investment in controlled entity 13 – – 1,116 –
Deferred costs – 155 – –
Amortisation of breed development costs 240 240 – –

1,356 395 1,116 –
(e) Specific Disclosure Items
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 955 744 – 16
Written down value of property, plant and equipment (814) (482) (2) –
Gain/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment 141 262 (2) 16
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000

4. INCOME TAX
The difference between income tax expense provided in the 
financial statements and the prima facie income tax expense 
is reconciled as follows:
Profit From Ordinary Activities 26,682 28,828 17,287 2,801
Prima facie income tax expense thereon at 30% 8,005 8,649 5,186 840
Tax effect of permanent and other differences:
Share of associate’s net loss/(profit) 103 (5) – –
Rebateable dividends – (16) (3,525) (16)
Building depreciation not deductible 510 486 72 71
Capital allowance on buildings (423) (369) (7) (7)
Write down of non-current assets to recoverable amount 336 – 336 –
Non-assessable capital gain – (8) – (2)
Tax losses not recognised 733 169 – –
Amortisation of intangible assets 153 – 73 –
Benefit of tax losses transferred in – – (1,970) –
Other items (net) 31 26 39 25
Under/(over) provision in prior years (134) (429) (273) 4
Income tax expense/(benefit) attributable to ordinary activities 9,314 8,503 (69) 915

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Current tax (receivable)/payable (3,444) 4,584 (579) 1,281
Provision for deferred income tax: non-current 51,836 41,173 – –
Future income tax benefit: non-current 1,163 1,252 86 299
Income Tax Losses
Future income tax benefit arising from tax losses of 
controlled entities not recognised at reporting date as 
realisation of the benefit is not regarded as virtually certain 902 169 – –

This future income tax benefit will only be obtained if:
(a) future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised;
(b) the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and
(c) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated entity in realising the benefit.
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2003 2002 2003 2002
NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

5. DIVIDENDS PAID ON ORDINARY SHARES
Dividends Paid During the Year
(a) Previous year final:
Franked dividends (6.08 cents per share) 11,250 – 11,250 –
(b) Current year interim:
Franked dividends (2.00 cents per share) 3,877 – 3,877 –

22 15,127 – 15,127 –

Dividends Proposed and Not Recognised as a Liability
Franked dividends (2003: 4.00 cents per share;
2002: 6.08 cents per share) 7,849 11,250 7,849 11,250

7,849 11,250 7,849 11,250

Franking Credits
The amount of franking credits available for the 
subsequent financial year (tax paid basis) 1,061 12,975 148 3,022

Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP)
The parent entity’s dividend reinvestment plan is in place allowing shareholders to have dividends fully or partly contribute to the
purchase of new ordinary shares in the parent entity. Since May 2003 the shares issued under the plan are issued at a 2% discount
to the relevant prevailing market value.
On 4 October 2002 the parent entity issued 7,304,650 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.7443 per share (total value $5,436,727) pursuant
to the DRP.
On 13 June 2003 the parent entity issued 2,381,519 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.9066 per share (total value $2,158,997) pursuant
to the DRP.

Franking Account
The tax rate at which paid dividends have been franked is 30%.

6. RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)
Trade debtors 7,422 3,580 2,444 –
Sundry debtors 38 52 16 27

7,460 3,632 2,460 27
Non-trade amounts owing by:
Related parties
– Wholly owned group – – 30,000 –
– Partly owned controlled entities – – 1,922 180

– – 31,922 180
Total current receivables 7,460 3,632 34,382 207

7. INVENTORIES (CURRENT)
Bulk stores – at cost 1,218 894 – –
Feedlot commodities – at cost 12,542 7,653 5,719 –
Other – at cost 1,200 225 – –
Total current inventories 14,960 8,772 5,719 –

8. LIVESTOCK (CURRENT)
Livestock at net market value
(2003: 145,765 head; 2002: 144,356 head) 88,299 68,315 – –
Total current livestock 88,299 68,315 – –

9. RECEIVABLES (NON-CURRENT)
Non-trade amounts owing by:
Related parties
– Wholly owned group – – 120,457 115,786
Other related parties
– Associated company 250 – 250 –
Total non-current receivables 250 – 120,707 115,786
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2003 2002 2003 2002
NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

10. OTHER ASSETS (NON-CURRENT)
Initial breed development costs 2,010 2,010 – –
Accumulated write off (894) (654) – –
Deferred breed development costs, net 1,116 1,356 – –
Total non-current other assets 1,116 1,356 – –

11. LIVESTOCK (NON-CURRENT)
Livestock at net market value
(2003: 272,283 head; 2002: 262,614 head) 141,787 121,504 – –
Total non-current livestock 141,787 121,504 – –

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Freehold Land
Opening balance, at cost 14,069 10,233 584 584
Additions 2,718 3,836 1,141 –
Disposals – – – –
Net amount of revaluation increments less decrements 15,403 – 2,756 –
Closing balance, at fair value (a) 32,190 14,069 4,481 584
Pastoral Leases
Opening balance, at cost (b) 43,089 43,089 11,403 11,403
Additions – – – –
Disposals – – – –
Net amount of revaluation increments less decrements 83,458 – 15,373 –
Closing balance, at fair value (a) 126,547 43,089 26,776 11,403
Buildings and Improvements
Opening balance, at cost 50,100 47,050 7,172 7,172
Additions 11,247 3,129 7,016 –
Disposals (619) (79) – –
Net amount of revaluation increments less decrements 1,227 – 219 –
Closing balance, at fair value (a) 61,955 50,100 14,407 7,172
Accumulated Depreciation
Opening balance (9,819) (8,178) (1,673) (1,434)
Depreciation for the year (1,990) (1,651) (429) (239)
Disposals 73 10 – –
Net amount of revaluation increments less decrements 2,781 – 550 –
Closing balance (8,955) (9,819) (1,552) (1,673)
Net freehold land, pastoral leases, buildings and 
improvements (a) 211,737 97,439 44,112 17,486
Plant and Equipment:
Opening balance, at cost 19,855 18,290 299 331
Additions 6,564 4,113 1,430 –
Disposals (853) (2,548) (30) (32)
Write down to recoverable amount (900) – – –
Closing balance, at cost 24,666 19,855 1,699 299
Accumulated Depreciation
Opening balance (10,996) (10,780) (275) (290)
Depreciation for the year (2,747) (2,351) (67) (17)
Disposals 585 2,135 28 32
Closing balance (13,158) (10,996) (314) (275)
Total property, plant and equipment, net 223,245 106,298 45,497 17,510

(a) The fair values of freehold land, pastoral leases, buildings and improvements have been determined by reference to director valuations, based upon independent
valuations obtained from Herron Todd White in June 2003. The basis of the valuations was existing use.

(b) The consolidated entity’s cattle stations are generally held under a leasehold agreement with the Crown. Leasehold properties in Queensland are mainly pastoral holdings
which are term leases with a maximum period of 50 years. In the Northern Territory, the pastoral leases held by the consolidated entity have been granted on a perpetual
basis by the Northern Territory Government.
While there is no obligation for leases to be renewed by the Queensland Government at expiry, the directors are not presently aware of any reason why leases would not
be renewed on substantially the same terms.
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2003 2002 2003 2002
NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

13. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (NON-CURRENT)
Investments:
Securities quoted on prescribed stock
exchanges:
– Shares in other corporations, at cost 3 39 – 20
Investment in controlled entities, at cost – – 67,753 64,139
Write down to recoverable amount – – (1,116) –
Closing balance, at cost – – 66,637 64,139
Total investments 3 39 66,637 64,159

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (NON-CURRENT)
Goodwill 9,050 5,980 1,268 –
Write down to recoverable amount (216) – – –
Accumulated amortisation (5,830) (5,631) (26) –
Goodwill, net 3,004 349 1,242 –
Intellectual property 287 243 275 –
Accumulated amortisation (118) (33) (81) –
Intellectual property, net 169 210 194 –
Other intangibles 2,325 – 1,389 –
Accumulated amortisation (225) – (136) –
Other intangibles, net 2,100 – 1,253 –
Total intangible assets, net 5,273 559 2,689 –

15. PAYABLES (CURRENT)
Trade creditors (a) 15,199 11,154 5,592 –
Other creditors and accruals 9,897 4,180 3,567 3,503
Total current payables 25,096 15,334 9,159 3,503

(a) Includes $2,313,000 (2002: $913,000) of trade creditor amounts owing to the Futuris Group.

16. PROVISIONS (CURRENT)
Employee entitlements:
– Annual leave 1,432 1,044 209 170
– Long service leave 785 509 – 173
Total current provisions 2,217 1,553 209 343

The number of full time equivalents of the consolidated entity at 30 June 2003 is 533 and at 30 June 2002 was 405. The increase is
primarily attributable to new businesses acquired during the financial year.

17. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES (CURRENT)
Unsecured borrowings:
Loans payable to:
– National Australia Bank 27 30,000 – 30,000 –
Total current interest bearing liabilities 30,000 – 30,000 –

18. PROVISIONS (NON-CURRENT)
Employee entitlements:
– Long service leave 242 157 – 53
Total non-current provisions 242 157 – 53

19. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES (NON-CURRENT)
Unsecured borrowings:
Loan payable to:
– National Australia Bank 27 75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000
Total non-current interest bearing liabilities 75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000
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2003 2002 2003 2002
NOTE $000 $000 $000 $000

20. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Ordinary shares (a) 55,631 46,635 55,631 46,635
Total contributed equity 55,631 46,635 55,631 46,635

(a) Movements in Contributed Equity for the Year:
2003 2002

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
SHARES1 $000 SHARES1 $000

Beginning of the financial year 185,012,000 46,635 14,200,500 8,488
Issued during the year
– Dividend reinvestment scheme – 2002 final dividend (note 5) 7,304,650 5,437 – –
– Dividend reinvestment scheme – 2003 interim dividend (note 5) 2,381,519 2,159 – –
– Partial consideration for purchase of Jesters Jaffle Pie Group2 1,538,461 1,400 – –
– Conversion of Futuris Group debt to equity3 – – 160,599,500 30,347
– Ordinary share issue as part of listing on ASX4 – – 10,000,000 10,000
– Transaction costs recognised directly in equity – – – (2,200)
– Tax exempt share plan issue to employees5 – – 212,000 –
End of the financial year 196,236,630 55,631 185,012,000 46,635

(b) Options6

Australian Agricultural Company Limited (AACo), has established the following employee incentive plans:

• the Tax Exempt Share Plan (TESP) and

• the Executive Option Plan (EOP).

Under EOP, the following options, each convertible to one ordinary Australian Agricultural Company Limited fully paid share, have
been issued.

DURING THE YEAR OPTIONS
ORIGINAL ON ISSUE ON ISSUE VESTED

DATE OF ISSUE PRICE7 ISSUE 30 JUNE 2002 ISSUED CONVERTED LAPSED 30 JUNE 2003 30 JUNE 2003

2 July 20018 $1.00 9,240,000 9,240,000 – – (1,232,000) 8,008,000 1,848,000
6 August 20019 $1.00 2,550,000 2,550,000 – – (40,000) 2,510,000 836,667
11 February 200210 $0.834 100,000 100,000 – – – 100,000 33,333
Total 11,890,000 11,890,000 – – (1,272,000) 10,618,000 2,718,000

1 Ordinary shares are fully paid and listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. Shares carry one vote and the right to dividends.
2 On 9 January 2003, ordinary shares were issued as partial consideration for the acquisition of Jesters Jaffle Pie Group. Of the total shares issued (1,538,461), a holding

lock arrangement applies to 879,120 shares. The holding lock conditions provide for the release of one-third (293,040) on the following three anniversaries of the issue date
(9 January 2004, 2005 and 2006).

3 A debt for equity swap occurred with the former parent entity on 1 August 2001.
4 Shares issued as part of the float process on 10 August 2001.
5 Under the Tax Exempt Employee Share Plan (“TESP”) 212,000 shares were issued on 30 August 2001. TESP shares were issued to 212 eligible employees and may not be

disposed of by the employee until all disposal restrictions (if any) applying to the shares are satisfied. Such disposal restrictions are in place until the earlier of a three year
period commencing on the date of the issue of the TESP shares and the time the eligible employee ceases to be employed by the consolidated entity.

6 The holders of the options do not have any right, by virtue of the options, to participate in any dividends or share or other interest issue of Australian Agricultural Company
Limited or any other body corporate.

7 The issue price is the Australian Agricultural Company Limited share price at the time of each issue or in the case of options issued in 2001 at the retail float price.
8 9,240,000 options were granted on 2 July 2001 expiring 2 July 2011 which vest as follows:

• Three-fifths of the options granted (or 5,544,000) are not subject to any performance criteria and will vest one-third on each anniversary date on which the options were
granted, so that all these options will be fully vested on the third anniversary of the date of the grant.

• Two-fifths of the options granted are subject to performance criteria. Of these, 1,232,000 lapsed unexercised during the year as the related performance hurdles were
not met.

Once vested the options may be exercised at any time up until the tenth anniversary of the date of the grant, at which time any vested but unexercised options will lapse.
Early lapse provisions relating to the continuity of employment do not apply to the first tranche of 5,544,000 options.

9 2,550,000 options were granted on 6 August 2001 and will vest one-third on each anniversary date on which the options were granted, so that all options will be fully vested
on the third anniversary of the date of the grant. The vesting options will not be subject to any other performance or vesting hurdles.

10 100,000 options were granted on 11 February 2002 at the market price prevailing at the time. One-third will vest on each anniversary date on which the options were
granted, so that all options will be fully vested on the third anniversary of the date of the grant.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT
2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000

(c) Outside Equity Interests in Consolidated Entity:
Contributed equity 889 689 – –
Reserves – – – –
Accumulated losses (1,184) (276) – –
Total outside equity interests (295) 413 – –
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2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000

21. RESERVES
Asset revaluation reserve 102,869 – 18,898 –
Capital profits reserve 58,530 58,530 101,200 101,200

161,399 58,530 120,098 101,200

Asset Revaluation
Nature and purpose of reserve:
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record 
increments and decrements in the value of 
non-current assets. The reserve can only be used to pay 
dividends in limited circumstances.
Movements in reserve:
Balance at beginning of year – 58,530 – 101,200
Revaluation increments on revaluation to fair value, of:
– Freehold land 15,403 – 2,756 –
– Pastoral leases 83,458 – 15,373 –
– Buildings and improvements 4,008 – 769 –
Transferred to capital profits reserve – (58,530) – (101,200)
Balance at end of year 102,869 – 18,898 –
Capital Profits
Nature and purpose of reserve:
The capital profits reserve is used to accumulate 
realised capital profits. The reserve can be 
used to pay dividends.
Movements in reserve:
Balance at beginning of year 58,530 – 101,200 –
Transferred from asset revaluation reserve – 58,530 – 101,200
Balance at end of year 58,530 58,530 101,200 101,200

22. RETAINED PROFITS (ACCUMULATED LOSSES)
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year 87,307 66,706 (11,962) (13,848)
Net profit for the financial year 18,276 20,601 17,356 1,886
Adjustment arising from adoption of revised 
accounting standard: AASB 1028 “Employee Benefits” (97) – – –
Total available for appropriation 105,486 87,307 5,394 (11,962)
Dividends paid (15,127) – (15,127) –
Retained profits at the end of the financial year 90,359 87,307 (9,733) (11,962)
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2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000

23. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of Cash
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash 
includes cash on hand and in banks.
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the 
Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items 
in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash on hand 2,848 83 2,919 81
Call deposits with banks 570 17,955 570 17,955
Total 3,418 18,038 3,489 18,036

(b) Reconciliation of Net Profit After Income Tax to 
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Net profit after income tax 17,368 20,325 17,356 1,886
Adjustments for non-cash income and expense items:
Depreciation and amortisation 5,246 4,080 739 256
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (141) (262) (2) (16)
Write down of plant and equipment 900 – – –
Write down of goodwill 216 – – –
Share of associate’s net losses/(profits) 345 (15) – –
Provision for diminution of investment – – 1,116 –
Other – (80) – (80)
Increment in net market value of livestock (36,768) (17,852) – –
Movement in:
– Income tax payable (8,028) 4,584 (1,860) 1,281
– Deferred taxes 10,752 1,356 213 (367)
Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects from 
purchase and sale of controlled entities:
(Increase)/decrease in assets:
– Accounts receivable (3,732) 4,071 (17,317) (27)
– Other inventory (2,192) (473) (2,037) –
– Prepayments and other assets (491) 250 (579) (56)
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
– Trade/sundry creditors 9,762 4,900 5,656 2,592
– Provisions – employee 486 112 (187) 136
Net cash (to)/from operating activities (6,277) 20,996 3,098 5,605

(c) Controlled Entities Acquired
The following controlled entities were acquired by the consolidated entity at the date stated. The acquired entity’s operating result has
been included in the Statement of Financial Performance from the date of its acquisition.

PROPORTION OF
SHARES ACQUIRED PARENT PARENT

ENTITY AND CONSIDERATION GIVEN DATE ACQUIRED 2003 2002 2003 2002
% % $000 $000

Rural Management Partners Pty Ltd 13 August 2002 51 – 510 –
Jesters Jaffle Pie Co Pty Ltd 9 January 2003 100 – 2,630 –
Polkinghornes Stores Pty Ltd 11 February 2002 15 51
– Cash 452 662
– Debt servicing agreement (cash deferred) – 55
Total consideration 3,592 717

Rural Management Partners Pty Ltd was acquired by the consolidated entity during the year ended 30 June 2003. Assets acquired were
cash, debtors and goodwill. The company’s main activity is rural investment.

Jesters Jaffle Pie Group of companies was acquired by the consolidated entity in a part cash part equity transaction. Assets acquired
were cash, debtors, plant and equipment and goodwill. The group’s main activities are the selling of jaffle pies through franchised
outlets.

Additional equity was purchased in Polkinghornes Stores Pty Ltd during the year ended 30 June 2003. The consolidated entity’s
shareholding has now moved from 51% to 66%. These funds were used to expand the company’s business to three retail stores.
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INTEREST FAIR VALUE OF NET PURCHASE 

2003 DATE ACQUIRED ACQUIRED ASSETS ACQUIRED CONSIDERATION
% $000 $000

Controlled entities acquired
Rural Management Partners Pty Ltd 13 August 2002 51 310 510
Jesters Jaffle Pie Co Pty Ltd 9 January 2003 100 319 2,630

629 3,140
Additional equity acquired in controlled entities
Polkinghornes Stores Pty Ltd 18 October 2002 15 452 452

1,081 3,592

Net assets held by newly controlled entities at the dates of acquisition:
2003 2002
$000 $000

Current assets 834 927
Non-current assets 225 –

1,059 927
Current liabilities 326 317
Non-current liabilities 104 –

430 317
Fair value of net assets acquired 629 610
Goodwill and other intangibles arising on acquisition 2,511 207
Purchase price 3,140 817

Consideration
– Cash paid 1,740 662
– Fair value of shares issued 1,400 –
– Cash deferred – 55
Total consideration 3,140 717
– Cash acquired (330) –
Outflow of cash 1,410 717

(d) Controlled Operations Acquired
FAIR VALUE OF
NET TANGIBLE PURCHASE

2003 DATE ACQUIRED ASSETS ACQUIRED CONSIDERATION
$000 $000

Controlled operations acquired
Aronui feedlot 29 November 2002 16,234 18,849
Kobe Cuisine 31 October 2002 – 250

16,234 19,099

Net assets of Aronui feedlot at the date of acquisition:
2003 2002
$000 $000

Current assets:
Grain, cattle and other debtors 7,086 –
Non-current assets:
Land, structures and feedlot pens 9,295 –
Current liabilities:
Sundry creditors (147) –
Fair value of net tangible assets acquired 16,234 –
Fair value of intangible assets acquired 1,625 –
Fair value of net assets acquired 17,859 –
Goodwill arising on acquisition 990 –
Purchase price 18,849 –

Consideration
– Cash paid 18,849 –
Total consideration 18,849 –

On 31 October 2002 the consolidated entity acquired the operations of Kobe Cuisine Pty Ltd for $0.3 million.

(e) Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities
During the year ended 30 June 2003 the parent entity issued 1,538,461 shares, at $0.91 per share (total value $1.4 million), as partial
consideration for the purchase of Jesters Jaffle Pie Group.

Under the terms of the dividend reinvestment plan, $7,595,724 (2002: $nil) of dividends were paid through the issue of 9,686,169 shares
(2002: nil). Of this, 7,304,650 shares were issued at $0.7443 per share and 2,381,519 shares at $0.9066 per share.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Objectives for Holding Financial Instruments
Australian Agricultural Company Limited and its controlled entities use basic derivative instruments to manage financial risk.
The group does not use or issue derivative or financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes.

The consolidated entity has a policy objective to ideally maintain the percentage of fixed and variable rate debt within controlled limits.
Interest rate swaps are entered into to maintain the fixed and variable rate debt.

The consolidated entity does not currently hedge its beef commodity price exposure, however, it has a policy whereby it will forward sell
a significant proportion of its feedlot cattle sales for a period of up to three months.

Virtually all of the consolidated entity’s revenue is received in Australian dollars, although the prices received are influenced by
movements in exchange rates, particularly that of the US dollar and Japanese yen relative to the Australian dollar. The consolidated
entity does not currently hedge any of this indirect currency exposure.

(b) Interest Rate Risk Exposure
The consolidated entity’s exposure to interest rate risks and its effective interest rate follows:

FIXED FLOATING NON- AVERAGE
INTEREST RATE INTEREST INTEREST INTEREST

2003 >1-5 YEARS RATE BEARING TOTAL RATE
$ $ $ $ %

Financial Assets
Cash – 3,418 – 3,418 4.20
Trade and sundry debtors – – 7,460 7,460 –
Financial Liabilities
Loans – unsecured – 105,000 – 105,000 4.82
Payables – – 25,096 25,096 –
Interest rate swaps 70,000 – – 70,000 4.84

FIXED FLOATING NON- AVERAGE
INTEREST RATE INTEREST INTEREST INTEREST

2002 >1-5 YEARS RATE BEARING TOTAL RATE
$ $ $ $ %

Financial Assets
Cash – 18,038 – 18,038 4.10
Trade and sundry debtors – – 3,632 3,632 –
Financial Liabilities
Loans – unsecured – 75,000 – 75,000 4.71
Payables – – 15,334 15,334 –
Interest rate swaps 27,000 – – 27,000 5.04

(c) Credit Risk Exposure
Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties failed to perform as contracted. Under the consolidated
entity’s treasury policy counterparties are predominantly prime financial institutions with at least A$10 million of net assets and a
Standard and Poor’s short-term rating of at least A3.

Longer term, the consolidated entity will look to source its funds from a broader range of markets and funding instruments to avoid
over dependence on any one source or type of funding.

The credit risk of financial assets of the consolidated entity which have been recognised on the Statement of Financial Position is
generally the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts.

With respect to receivables all of the consolidated entity’s credit risk is in Australia and is generally concentrated in the meat
processing industry. The group manages its credit risk by maintaining strong relationships with a limited number of quality customers.
At times risk is mitigated by paying commissions to a third party to accept credit risk in relation to certain sales.

(d) Net Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The consolidated entity’s financial assets and liabilities included in the Statement of Financial Position are carried at amounts that
approximate net fair value. The net fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability is the amount at which the asset could be
exchanged or liability settled in a current transaction between willing parties, after allowing for transaction costs.
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2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000

25. COMMITMENTS
(a) Operating Lease Expenditure Contracted for is Payable as follows:
Leased plant and equipment:
Not later than one year 578 661 – –
Later than one year but not later than five years 461 1,074 – –
Later than five years – – – –
Total leased plant and equipment 1,039 1,735 – –
Leased land and buildings:
Not later than one year 3,411 2,955 293 –
Later than one year but not later than five years 13,509 11,280 1,037 –
Later than five years 3,118 – – –
Total leased land and buildings 20,038 14,235 1,330 –
Leased motor vehicles:
Not later than one year 1,530 885 115 –
Later than one year but not later than five years 1,488 521 83 –
Later than five years – – – –
Total leased motor vehicles 3,018 1,406 198 –

Property, plant and equipment lease rental payments are generally fixed. Renewal options do exist in relation to these operating leases.
Motor vehicle lease rental payments are fixed over the term of the lease. Except for motor vehicles, purchase options exist in relation to
these operating leases. Failure to exercise the option on the land and building lease will result in a fixed fee payable to the lessor.

(b) Capital Expenditure Commitments Contracted for is Payable as follows:
Not later than one year – – – –
Later than one year but not later than five years – – – –
Later than five years – – – –

– – – –

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Contingent liabilities at balance date, not otherwise provided 
for in these financial statements are categorised as follows:

Other persons:
Contingent performance bonus to vendor of Aronui feedlot 300 – – –
Guarantees and indemnities:
Bank guarantee in relation to the Goonoo feedlot 3,300 3,150 – –
Bank guarantees provided in relation to premises 84 – – –

On 29 November 2002 the consolidated entity acquired the operations of Aronui feedlot. As part of this acquisition, a contingent
payment of up to $0.3 million may be payable to the vendor should the feedlot meet various performance hurdles. At 30 June 2003 the
potential liability had not been taken to the accounts as the liability cannot be reliably measured.

At 30 June 2003 there are a number of native title claims over some of the consolidated entity’s cattle properties. Negotiations are
continuing with stakeholders to resolve these claims. The directors are not aware of any native title rights that may be found to co-exist
with the consolidated entity’s rights and as such they do not expect any impact on the business to result from native title claims.
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27. FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS
The consolidated entity has access to the following financing facilities with the National Australia Bank Limited:

2003
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

ACCESSIBLE DRAWN-DOWN UNUSED ACCESSIBLE DRAWN-DOWN UNUSED
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Bank term facility 75,000 75,000 – 75,000 75,000 –
Bank seasonal facility 20,000 20,000 – 20,000 20,000 –
Bank seasonal facility 10,000 10,000 – 10,000 10,000 –
Bank guarantee facility 3,300 3,300 – 3,300 3,300 –
Total financing facilities 108,300 108,300 – 108,300 108,300 –

2002
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

ACCESSIBLE DRAWN-DOWN UNUSED ACCESSIBLE DRAWN-DOWN UNUSED
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Bank term facility 75,000 75,000 – 75,000 75,000 –
Bank seasonal facility 20,000 – 20,000 20,000 – 20,000
Bank guarantee facility 3,150 3,150 – 3,150 3,150 –
Total financing facilities 98,150 78,150 20,000 98,150 78,150 20,000

The facilities are provided on a negative pledge basis. Financial covenants are in place with respect to minimum interest cover ratios,
maximum debt cover ratios and minimum consolidated net worth.

The $20 million bank seasonal facility is a 364 day facility which matures on 30 November 2003, while the $10 million bank seasonal
facility was replaced in July 2003 with a $20 million bank term facility with a maturity date of 30 June 2005.

The $75 million bank term facility is repayable in full in August 2004.
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28. CONTROLLED ENTITIES
The consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2003 include the following controlled entities. The financial years of all controlled
entities are the same as that of the parent entity.

PLACE OF 2003 2002
NAME OF CONTROLLED ENTITY NOTE INCORPORATION % OF SHARES HELD % OF SHARES HELD

Parent Entity
Australian Agricultural Company Limited (a) Australia

A. A. Company Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100
Austcattle Holdings Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100
A. A. & P. Joint Holdings Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100
Shillong Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100
James McLeish Estates Pty Limited (a) Australia 100 100
Wondoola Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100
Waxahachie Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100
Naroo Pastoral Company Pty Limited (a) Australia 100 100
AACo Nominees Pty Limited (a) Australia 100 100
Polkinghornes Stores Pty Ltd (b) Australia 66 51
Rural Management Partners Pty Ltd (c) Australia 51 –
Jesters Jaffle Pie Co Pty Ltd (c) Australia 100 –
Jesters Franchising Pty Ltd (c) Australia 100 –
Jesters Manufacturing Pty Ltd (c) Australia 100 –
Jesters Personnel Pty Ltd (c) Australia 100 –

The parent entity, Australian Agricultural Company Limited, a public company, is domiciled in Sydney, Australia.

The registered office is located at: Level 3
16-20 Barrack Street
Sydney NSW 2000

The principal place of business is located at: Level 1
299 Coronation Drive
Milton
Brisbane Qld 4064

(a) These companies have entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee dated 20 September 2001 with Australian Agricultural Company
Limited which provides that all parties to the deed will guarantee to each creditor payment in full of any debt of each company
participating in the deed on winding-up of that company. As a result of a Class Order issued by the Australian Securities and
Investments Commission, these companies are relieved from the requirement to prepare financial statements.

The consolidated Statement of Financial Performance and Statement of Financial Position of all entities included in the class
order “closed group” are set out at footnote (d).

(b) Entities audited by firms other than the parent entity auditors.

(c) Controlled entity acquired during the year.
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2003 2002
$000 $000

(d) Financial information for class order closed group.

Statement of Financial Position for the Closed Group:
Total current assets 119,529 99,015
Total non-current assets 372,943 231,265
Total assets 492,472 330,280
Total current liabilities 56,176 20,750
Total non-current liabilities 127,083 116,770
Total liabilities 183,259 137,520
Net Assets 309,213 192,760

Equity
Contributed equity 55,631 46,635
Reserves 161,399 58,530
Retained profits 92,183 87,595
Total Equity 309,213 192,760

Statement of Financial Performance of the Closed Group:
Revenues from ordinary activities 113,197 93,438
Share of net (loss)/profit of associate accounted for using the equity method (345) 15

112,852 93,453
Employee expenses (19,214) (15,798)
Cattle expenses (8,879) (6,183)
Feedlot cattle expenses (mainly feed costs) (20,663) (13,620)
Other station operating costs (11,208) (11,010)
Lease and property related costs (5,141) (5,542)
Business development and other non-station operating costs (2,065) (588)
Administration and other costs (6,954) (3,440)

(74,124) (56,181)
Earnings before interest expense, income tax, depreciation and amortisation 38,728 37,272
Depreciation and amortisation (4,735) (3,961)
Borrowing costs (4,868) (3,919)
Profit from ordinary activities before income tax 29,125 29,392
Income tax expense attributable to ordinary activities (9,313) (8,503)
Profit from ordinary activities after related income tax expense 19,812 20,889
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29. ASSOCIATED ENTITIES
Details of material interests in associated entities are as follows:

OWNERSHIP INTEREST
NAME AND REPORTING DATE OF AT 30 JUNE VOTING POWER CARRYING AMOUNT
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES ASSOCIATED ENTITY 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

$000 $000

Chefs Partner Pty Ltd 30 June 45% 45% 45% 45% 410 755

Principal Activities
Chefs Partner Pty Ltd is a provider of beef and other meats to the food service sector.

2003 2002
$000 $000

Share of Associate’s Results
Revenues from ordinary activities 3,572 481
(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities before income tax (345) 15
Income tax expense – –
Share of net results of associates (345) 15

2003
TOTAL

RETAINED OTHER CARRYING
CARRYING AMOUNT OF INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE PROFITS RESERVES COST AMOUNT

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at the beginning of the year 15 – 740 755
Movements during the year
– Share of net result (345) – – (345)
Balance at the end of the year (330) – 740 410

2003 2002
$000 $000

Retained profits (accumulated losses) of the consolidated entity attributable to associate
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 15 –
Share of associate’s net (losses)/profits (345) 15
Balance at the end of the financial year (330) 15
Other
There are no direct transactions with the associate entity.
Commitments
Share of associated entities operating lease commitments:
Not later than one year 78 68
Later than one year and not later than five years 308 272
Later than five years – 34

386 374



Australian Agricultural Company Limited and its Controlled Entities

56 AACo ANNUAL REPORT 2003

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the Year ended 30 June 2003 (continued)
CONSOLIDATED PARENT

2003 2002 2003 2002
$000 $000 $000 $000

30. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
Remuneration received, or due and receivable, by the 
auditor of the parent entity for:
– Audit or review of the financial statements
Arthur Andersen – 58 – 58
Ernst & Young 168 54 156 54
– Other services
Arthur Andersen – 517 – 517
Ernst & Young 388 – 388 –

556 629 544 629

Other services comprise:
Arthur Andersen
– Float IAR and forecast review – 417 – 417
– Taxation strategy and compliance – 19 – 19
– Accounting advice – 81 – 81
Ernst & Young
– Taxation strategy and compliance 159 – 159 –
– Accounting advice 27 – 27 –
– Acquisition due diligence 202 – 202 –

388 517 388 517

31. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The consolidated entity predominantly operates within a single business segment, being the primary production of beef cattle.
Accordingly, separate segment information has not been provided. The consolidated entity has determined that its primary
segmentation is its business segments as the consolidated entity’s risk and returns are affected predominantly by the business it
operates rather than the geographical areas of its operations.
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32. DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVES’ REMUNERATION
The total remuneration for each executive director and executive officer comprises a fixed salary (which can be by way of cash and
benefits such as motor vehicles), a variable performance based bonus and superannuation.

(a) Income of Directors
The numbers of directors of the parent entity who were paid, or were due to be paid, income, directly or indirectly from the company or
any related party, as shown in the following bands, were:

PARENT
2003 2002

$30,000 – 39,999 – 1
$40,000 – 49,999 1 –
$50,000 – 59,999 2 2

$100,000 – 109,999 – 1
$110,000 – 119,999 1 –
$360,000 – 369,999* – 1
$370,000 – 379,999* 1 –
$530,000 – 539,999* – 1
$540,000 – 549,999* 1 –

Aggregate income paid or payable, or otherwise made available, to directors of:
– Australian Agricultural Company Limited

– Non-executive directors $275,976 $252,205
– Executive directors (see *) $921,146 $900,053

– Controlled entities – –
$1,197,122 $1,152,258

(b) Income of Executives
The number of executives, excluding executive directors (see * in (a) above), whose total income fell within the following bands were:

CONSOLIDATED PARENT
2003 2002 2003 2002

$140,000 – 149,999 – 1 – 1
$170,000 – 179,999 1 – 1 –
$190,000 – 199,999 1 – 1 –
$280,000 – 289,999 – 1 – 1
$490,000 – 499,999 – 1 – 1
$500,000 – 509,999 1 – 1 –
The aggregate income of the executives referred to above, whose 
remuneration is $100,000 or more: $880,375 $927,390 $880,375 $927,390

Income of executives comprises amounts paid or payable to executive officers domiciled in Australia, directly or indirectly by the
consolidated entity or any related party in connection with the management of the affairs of the parent entity or consolidated entity,
whether as executive officers or otherwise.

The definition of an executive is an employee who is responsible for the strategic direction of the company.
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33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Directors
The following persons held the position of director of Australian Agricultural Company Limited during all of the past two financial
years, unless otherwise stated:
D G W Hills – Chairman
P Holmes à Court – Chief Executive Officer
N Burton Taylor
C I Roberts
T A Fischer   (appointed 26 October 2001)
D J Mackay   (appointed 26 October 2001)

(b) Directors’ Shareholdings
Interests in the equity instruments of Australian Agricultural Company Limited held by directors of the consolidated entity and their
director-related entities:

ORDINARY SHARES FULLY PAID OPTIONS OVER ORDINARY SHARES
2003 2003

NUMBER NUMBER

D G W Hills 186,182 –
N Burton Taylor 610,919 –
T A Fischer 41,529 –
P Holmes à Court 15,050,000 8,008,000
D J Mackay 16,582 1,386,000
C I Roberts 143,088 –

(c) Other Director Transactions
Directors of the consolidated entity and directors of its related parties, or their director-related entities, conduct transactions with
entities within the consolidated entity that occur within a normal employee, customer or supplier relationship on terms and conditions
no more favourable than those with which it is reasonable to expect the entity would have adopted if dealing with the director or
director-related entity at arm’s length in similar circumstances.

These transactions include the following and have been quantified below where the transactions are considered likely to be of interest
to users of these financial statements:

David Hills was previously a director of Elders Australia Limited and a number of other Elders Australia subsidiaries, all of which form
part of the Futuris Group. Elders Australia is one of the largest providers of farm services in Australia. The Australian Agricultural
Company Limited and Elders Australia have entered into agreement under which the latter provides livestock procurement (as an agent
to the ultimate vendor), merchandise and marketing services to the consolidated entity (on a non-exclusive basis) and on either a fee
per head or percentage of sale price basis (depending on the method of sale), as well as other corporate shared services and
information technology services on a contracted arm’s length basis. For the year ended 30 June 2003 the following amounts have been
paid or are payable for these services:

CONSOLIDATED
2003 2002
$000 $000

Marketing services 629 751
Merchandise 4,827 4,336
Corporate shared services and IT services 320 403
Rent on Brisbane premises 143 115
Total 5,919 5,605

As noted above during the year the consolidated entity purchased cattle from vendors who contracted with members of the Futuris
Group to act as their agent.
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Nick Burton Taylor has entered into sale arrangements with the consolidated entity with respect to livestock on commercial terms and
conditions no more favourable than those available to other customers. For the year ended 30 June 2003 the following amounts have
been paid or received by the consolidated entity:

CONSOLIDATED
2003 2002
$000 $000

Paid by the consolidated entity for the purchase of livestock 127 110

(d) Transactions with Related Parties in the Wholly Owned Group
Loans
Loans are made by the parent entity to wholly owned subsidiaries. The loans are repayable on demand. Interest is charged at the
average external interest rate paid by the parent entity with a margin of 1%.

Management Fees
Management fees are effectively charged by the parent entity to wholly owned subsidiaries based upon the assets of the subsidiary.
Total management fees charged by the parent entity are disclosed in note 2.

(e) Transactions with Other Related Parties
Loans
The parent entity provided loans to Polkinghornes Stores Pty Ltd, a partly owned controlled entity totalling $1,774,000 (2002: $180,000).
Interest is charged on a commercial arm’s length basis.

The parent entity provided a loan to Chefs Partner Pty Limited, an associate entity, totalling $250,000 (2002: $nil). Interest is charged
on a commercial arm’s length basis.

All transactions with other related parties are conducted on commercial terms and conditions.

(f) Other Transactions with Previous Owners
In and around listing on the ASX, the consolidated entity repaid $76.16 million owing to its previous owner, the Futuris Group.

Prior to listing on the ASX, the company undertook a debt for equity swap involving 160,559,500 shares being issued to the Futuris
Group on 1 August 2001.

As part of the company’s float process, it and certain entities in the Futuris Group entered into an Implementation Agreement which
included various indemnities to allow the float process to proceed. As part of this agreement the Futuris Group provided an indemnity
for any tax claims relating to a transaction entered into, or occurrence affecting, the consolidated entity between the period
commencing 30 September 1996 and ending in August 2001. No such tax claims were made in the two years ended 30 June 2003.

(g) Ultimate Parent Entity
The ultimate controlling entity of the consolidated entity is Australian Agricultural Company Limited.

CONSOLIDATED
2003 2002

34. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 9.6 12.1
Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 9.6 12.1

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares used as Denominator

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation 
of basic earnings per share 191,231,320 169,882,915
Effect of dilutive executive options 2,600 –
Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share 191,233,920 169,882,915

Details of all options are set out in note 20(b). Share options issued on 2 July 2001 and 6 August 2001 are considered not to be dilutive
at 30 June 2003. The earnings used for basic and dilutive earnings per share is net profit.

35. SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS
The consolidated entity participates in one superannuation fund covering substantially all of its employees, which provides benefits on
a cash accumulation basis, for employees on retirement, resignation or disablement, or to their dependants on death.

In addition, the consolidated entity is required to provide a minimum level of superannuation support for employees under the
Australian Superannuation Guarantee legislation.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The directors declare that:

(a) the financial statements and associated notes comply with the Accounting Standards and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views;

(b) the financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2003 and performance of the
company and consolidated entity for the year then ended;

(c) in the directors’ opinion:

(i) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable; and

(ii) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act (2001), including section 296 and 297.

(d) in the opinion of the directors, as at the date of the declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the
Close Group identified in note 28 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject, by
virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee.

Made in accordance with a resolution of directors:

Peter Holmes à Court, Director David Hills, Chairman
Sydney Sydney
12 August 2003 12 August 2003
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT to members of Australian Agricultural Company Limited

SCOPE

The financial report and directors’ responsibility
The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of cash flows,
accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for Australian Agricultural Company Limited (the
company) and the consolidated entity, for the year ended 30 June 2003.  The consolidated entity comprises both the company and the
entities it controlled during that year.

The directors of the company are responsible for preparing a financial report that gives a true and fair view of the financial position and
performance of the company and the consolidated entity, and that complies with Accounting Standards in Australia, in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2001.  This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are
designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.

Audit approach
We conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the company.  Our audit
was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
report is free of material misstatement.  The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement,
selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence.  Therefore,
an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with Accounting Standards in Australia, and other mandatory financial reporting
requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial
position, and of their performance as represented by the results of their operations and cash flows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

• examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial report, and

• assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature and extent
of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

We performed procedures to assess whether the substance of business transactions was accurately reflected in the financial report.
These and our other procedures did not include consideration or judgment of the appropriateness or reasonableness of the business
plans or strategies adopted by the directors and management of the company.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the company, and have met the independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements
and the Corporations Act 2001.  In addition to our audit of the financial report, we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.  The provision of these services has not impaired our independence.

AUDIT OPINION
In our opinion, the financial report of Australian Agricultural Company Limited is in accordance with:

(a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Australian Agricultural Company Limited and the consolidated entity at 30
June 2003 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia.

Ernst & Young

Craig M Jackson
Partner
Sydney
12 August 2003
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows. 
The information is current as of 3 September 2003.

(a) Distribution of Equity Securities

Number of Shares Number of 
Shareholders

1 - 1,000 793

1,001 - 5,000 6,767

5,001 - 10,000 2,103

10,001 - 100,000 1,651

100,001 and Over 65

TOTAL 11,379

(b) Twenty Largest Shareholders
The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted shares are:

QUOTED ORDINARY SHARES
HOLLYMONT LIMITED (part of the Futuris Group) 80,469,081

PETER HOLMES à COURT 15,050,000

WESTPAC CUSTODIAN NOMINEES LTD 5,449,389

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LTD 3,329,344

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 3,067,519

UGO HOLDINGS PTY LTD 1,318,681

MR MARTIN JOSEPH GLYNN and MRS ANNE GLYNN 1,307,953

WARRENGLEN NOMINEES PTY LTD 1,000,000

COMMONWEALTH CUSTODIAL SERVICES LIMITED 907,120

VICTORIAN INVESTMENT CORPORATION PTY LTD (part of the Futuris Group) 884,442

INVIA CUSTODIAN PTY LIMITED 778,775

ANZ NOMINEES LIMITED 650,245

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 556,421

C P VENTURES LIMITED (part of the Futuris Group) 552,776

GRO-RUZ INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 500,000

ASIA UNION INVESTMENTS PTY LIMITED 442,220

RPG MANAGEMENT PTY LTD 403,018

WASHINGTON H SOUL PATTINSON CO LTD 400,000

BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED 387,044

T & A HALE NOMINEES PTY LTD 384,000

(c) Substantial Shareholders
The names of substantial shareholders who have notified the company in accordance with section 671B of the 
Corporations Act 2001 are:

NUMBER OF SHARES
HOLLYMONT LIMITED (part of the Futuris Group) 81,906,299

PETER HOLMES à COURT 15,050,000

(d) Voting Rights
All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction.

(e) The number of security investors holding less than a marketable parcel of 391 securities ($1.28 on 3 September 2003) is 180 and
they hold 17,912 securities.



AACo’s portfolio of 19 cattle stations and feedlots cover a vast geographical area,
allowing the company to reduce exposure to localised risks such as climactic variations.
This spread of properties has proven to be crucial to the resilience of the AACo result
this year, especially in light of the poor seasonal conditions experienced in some
regions of Queensland and New South Wales.

Details of each property’s location, purpose and size are provided below:

Property Purpose/Function Station Area (HA)

Brunette Downs Breeding/bull breeding/growing 1,221,200

Rockhampton Downs Breeding 508,100

Avon Downs Breeding 393,900

Austral Downs Breeding 469,200

Headingly Breeding 1,007,200

Gregory Downs Breeding 266,400

Wondoola Breeding 252,500

Wrotham Park Breeding 597,078

Canobie Breeding/bull breeding 429,100

Clonagh Growing 98,200

Dalgonally Growing 128,000

Kalmeta Growing 94,100

Brighton Downs Growing 420,614

South Galway Growing 487,600

Glentana Backgrounding 15,900

Goonoo Farm Backgrounding 22,732

Goonoo feedlot Feedlot –

Aronui feedlot Feedlot -

Maneroo Backgrounding 101,100

Meteor Downs Bull breeding 17,500

Total 6,530,424

AACo: Property Report
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COMPANY INFORMATION

Registered Office
Suite 305, Level 3
16-20 Barrack Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Ph: (02) 9248 2222 
Fax: (02) 9299 8963

Principal Place of Business
Level 1
299 Coronation Drive
Milton QLD 4064
Ph: (07) 3368 4400
Fax: (07) 3368 4401

Share Registry
ASX Perpetual Registrars
580 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Ph: (02) 8280 7111
www.asxperpetual.com.au

AACo shares are quoted 
on the Australian Stock
Exchange under listing 
code AAC.

AACo Websites
www.aaco.com.au
www.1824.com.au
www.jesters.com.au
www.polkinghornes.com.au
www.chefspartner.com.au


